



- İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Case Reports -

Case Reports

latrogenic Left Main Coronary Artery Dissection Öz et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Intramuscular Myxoma of the Right Cruris Barış and Circi. İstanbul, Turkey

Wellens' Syndrome Yumrutepe et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Guillain-Barré Syndrome and Rheumatic Diseases Aytekin et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Menometrorrhagia Due to Sertraline Treatment A Case Sevda Bağ, İstanbul, Turkey Obesity Treatment Can Also Cure Diabetes Akbaş and Usta Atmaca. İstanbul, Turkey

Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia with Bilateral Chylothorax Serin et al. İstanbul, Turkey

CADASIL Syndrome Bağ et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Patient with Fever of Unknown Origin Altunoğlu et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Foreign Body Reaction in the Hand Circi and Barış. İstanbul, Turkey

Poland Syndrome with Vocal Fold Paralysis Yıldız et al. Antalya, İstanbul, Turkey

Primary Spinal Epidural Lymphoma Özdemir et al. İstanbul, Turkey

istanbulmedicaljournal.org

aalenos



Owned by on behalf of the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital Özgür YİĞİT

Executive Editor

Feray AKBAŞ

Editor in Chief

Feray AKBAŞ

Clinic of Internal Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Associate Editors

Nevra DURSUN Clinic of Pathology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Turgut KARABAĞ

Clinic of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Serkan SARI

Clinic of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Eylem Çağıltay

Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Sultan 2. Abdülhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Owner

Özgür YİĞİT

Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Publishing Manager

Esra KARABAL ARDA Specialist of Alternative Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye



Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derya Mor Erkan Mor

Publication Coordinator Burak Sever

Web Coordinators Turgay Akpınar Fuat Hocalar

Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülşah Özgül

Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak

Project Coordinators Duygu Yıldırm Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Çekil Pınar Akpınar Rabia Palazoğlu

Research&Development Mert Can Köse Özlem Küççük

Digital Marketing Specialist Seher Altundemir Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Printing at: Özgün Basım Tanıtım San. ve Turizm Ltd. Şti. Yeşilce Mah. Aytekin Sk. No:21 Seyrantepe Sanayi, Kağıthane-İstanbul-Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 280 00 09 Certificate Number: 48150

International periodical journal published three times in a year.

ISSN: 2619-9793 E-ISSN: 2148-094X

Printing Date: November 2020



Advisory Board

N. Volkan ADSAY

Atlanta GA, USA

Sedat ALTIN

Clinic of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Yedikule Chest Diseases and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Baki ARPACI

Department of Neurology, Bakırköy Psychiatric Hospital,

Yağmur AYDIN

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mustafa BASBUĞ

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Ercives University

Hasan BEKTAS

Levent CANSEVER

Nil CAĞLAR

Clinic of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Gürhan CELİK

Oğuz CETİNKALE

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Fuat DEMİRKIRAN

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpasa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Feza EKİZ

Gastrointestinal Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Murat ELEVLİ

Turkey, İstanbul Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, . Turkev

Haluk EMİR

Department of Pediatric Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Vevsel ERDEN

Acar AREN

Elvan ERHAN

Department of Algology, Ege University School of Medicine,

Selim <u>GÖKCE</u>

Gonca GÖKDEMİR

Clinic of Dermatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Behiye Pinar GÖKSEDEF

Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology Surgery, Private Gaziosmanpaşa

Mehmet Salih GÜREL

Abdil Cem İBİŞ

Department of General Surgery, Hepatobiliary Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Gökhan İPEK

Sibel KALACA

istanbulmedicaljournal.org



STANBUL TIP DERGİSİ

Kamil KAYNAK

Department of Thoracic Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Yaşar KAYNAR

Department of Neurosurgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Esra SAĞLAM KAYTAN Department of Radiation Oncology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Hayrettin KESMEZACAR Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul Bilim University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkev

Özgür KILIÇKESMEZ

Clinic of Radiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Altan KIR

Clinic of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Health, Anadolu Health Centre, Kocaeli, Turkey

Zafer KOÇAK

Department of Radiation Oncology, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Uğur KORMAN

Department of Radiodiagnostics, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Kadir KOTİL Academy of Medical Science, İstanbul Arel Universi School of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Türkey

Güniz MEYANCI KÖKSAL Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrabases School of Medicine Turkey

Öner ÖZDEMİR Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, Sakarya University Faculty of Medicine, Sakarya Turkey

Yusuf ÖZTÜRKMEN

Clinic of Orthopedics, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Zuhal PARILDAR Department of Biochemistry, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Mehmet Emin PİŞKİNPAŞA

Clinic of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Ziya SALİHOĞLU

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul University, İstanbul, Turkey

Kaya SARIBEYOĞLU

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Atakan SEZER Department of General Surgery, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey

Yunus SÖYLET Department of Pediatric Surgery, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ali İhsan TAŞÇI Clinic of Urology, Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mahmut Gökhan TOKTAŞ Clinic of Urology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Emine Nur TOZAN Department of Algology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul Turkey

Volkan TUĞCU Clinic of Urology, Bahçelievler Memorial Hospital, İstanbul Turkev

Yalçın TÜZÜN Department of Dermatology, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ayşe YALIMAN Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Nurhayat YILDIRIM

Department of Chest Diseases, İstanbul Unviersity-Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Orhan YILMAZ

Clinic of Otolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

Özgür YİĞİT

Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

istanbulmedicaljournal.org



AIMS AND SCOPE

İstanbul Medical Journal is the scientific, peer reviewed, open access publication of İstanbul Training and Research Hospital. The journal is printed six times in a year; on January, March, May, July, September, November and its publication language is Turkish and English.

The aim of the journal is to publish high level clinical and experimental studies conducted in all fields of medicine. Reviews comprising the latest research findings, reports on rare and educative cases and letters to the editor are also published.

The target population of the journal includes specialists in all fields of medicine, academicians and relevant health care professionals.

The İstanbul Medical Journal is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, EBSCO, DOAJ, Hinari, ROOT INDEXING, Türk Atif Dizini, Türk Medline, J-GATE, Proquest, Ardi, Goali and Oare, CABI.

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. No fees are requested from the authors at any point throughout the evaluation and publication process. All manuscripts must be submitted via the online submission system, which is available at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org. The journal guidelines, technical information, and the required forms are available on the journal's web page.

All expenses of the journal are covered by the İstanbul Training and Research Hospital. Potential advertisers should contact the Editorial Office. The journal does not publish advertisement.

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, editors, editorial board, and/or publisher; the editors, editorial board, and publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials.

All published content is available online, free of charge at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org. Printed copies of the journal are distributed to the members of İstanbul Training and Research Hospital as well as the members of the editorial board and the journal's reviewers, free of charge.

İstanbul Training and Research Hospital holds the international copyright of all the content published in the journal.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on the rules of the Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) http://www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/. By "open access" to peer-reviewed research literature, we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Editor: Feray AKBAŞ

Address: Clinic of Internal Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: atlibatur@yahoo.com

Publisher : GALENOS PUBLISHING HOUSE

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 Fındıkzade 34093 İstanbul, Turkey

Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr

OPEN ACCESS



The editorial and publication processes of the journal are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), the Council of Science Editors (CSE), the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the European Association of Science Editors (EASE), and National Information Standards Organization (NISO). The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

Originality, high scientific quality, and citation potential are the most important criteria for a manuscript to be accepted for publication. Manuscripts submitted for evaluation should not have been previously presented or already published in an electronic or printed medium. The journal should be informed of manuscripts that have been submitted to another journal for evaluation and rejected for publication. The submission of previous reviewer reports will expedite the evaluation process. Manuscripts that have been presented in a meeting should be submitted with detailed information on the organization, including the name, date, and location of the organization.

Manuscripts submitted to istanbul Medical Journal will go through a doubleblind peer-review process. Each submission will be reviewed by at least two external, independent peer reviewers who are experts in their fields in order to ensure an unbiased evaluation process. The editorial board will invite an external and independent editor to manage the evaluation processes of manuscripts submitted by editors or by the editorial board members of the journal. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all submissions.

An approval of research protocols by the Ethics Committee in accordance with international agreements (World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects," amended in October 2013, www.wma.net) is required for experimental, clinical, and drug studies and for some case reports. If required, ethics committee reports or an equivalent official document will be requested from the authors. For manuscripts concerning experimental research on humans, a statement should be included that shows that written informed consent of patients and volunteers was obtained following a detailed explanation of the procedures that they may undergo. For studies carried out on animals, the measures taken to prevent pain and suffering of the animals should be stated clearly. In experimental animal studies, the authors should indicate that the procedures followed were in accordance with animal rights as per the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals http://oacu.od.nih.gov/regs/guide/guide.pdf and they should obtain animal ethics committee approval. Information on patient consent, the name of the ethics committee, and the ethics committee approval number should also be stated in the Materials and Methods section of the manuscript. It is the authors' responsibility to carefully protect the patients' anonymity. For photographs that may reveal the identity of the patients, signed releases of the patient or of their legal representative should be enclosed.

All submissions are screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck).

In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with COPE guidelines.

Each individual listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors

(ICMJE - www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship be based on the following 4 criteria:

- 1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND
- 2. Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND
- 3. Final approval of the version to be published; AND
- 4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she has done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for specific other parts of the work. In addition, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged in the title page of the manuscript.

istanbul Medical Journal requires corresponding authors to submit a signed and scanned version of the authorship contribution form (available for download through www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org) during the initial submission process in order to act appropriately on authorship rights and to prevent ghost or honorary authorship. If the editorial board suspects a case of "gift authorship," the submission will be rejected without further review. As part of the submission of the manuscript, the corresponding author should also send a short statement declaring that he/she accepts to undertake all the responsibility for authorship during the submission and review stages of the manuscript.

istanbul Medical Journal requires and encourages the authors and the individuals involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other support received for a submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all contributing authors. Cases of a potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers are resolved by the journal's Editorial Board within the scope of COPE and ICMJE guidelines.



The Editorial Board of the journal handles all appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office regarding their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve cases that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all appeals and complaints.

When submitting a manuscript to istanbul Medical Journal, authors accept to assign the copyright of their manuscript to istanbul Training and Research Hospital. If rejected for publication, the copyright of the manuscript will be assigned back to the authors. Istanbul Medical Journal requires each submission to be accompanied by a Copyright Transfer Form (available for download at www.istanbulmedicaljournal.org). When using previously published content, including figures, tables, or any other material in both print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s).

Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in İstanbul Medical Journal reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility in regard to the published content rests with the authors.

MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

The manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2016 - http://www. icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf). Authors are required to prepare manuscripts in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines for randomized research studies, STROBE guidelines for observational original research studies, STARD guidelines for studies on diagnostic accuracy, PRISMA guidelines for systematic reviews and meta-analysis, ARRIVE guidelines for experimental animal studies, and TREND guidelines for non-randomized public behavior.

Manuscripts can only be submitted through the journal's online manuscript submission and evaluation system, available at www.istanbulmedicaljournal. org. Manuscripts submitted via any other medium will not be evaluated.

Manuscripts submitted to the journal will first go through a technical evaluation process where the editorial office staff will ensure that the manuscript has been prepared and submitted in accordance with the journal's guidelines. Submissions that do not conform to the journal's guidelines will be returned to the submitting author with technical correction requests.

Authors are required to submit the following:

- Copyright Transfer Form,
- Author Contributions Form, and

• ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form (should be filled in by all contributing authors)

during the initial submission. These forms are available for download at www. istanbulmedicaljournal.org.

Preparation of the Manuscript

Title page: A separate title page should be submitted with all submissions and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript as well as a short title (running head) of no more than 50 characters,
- Name(s), affiliations, and highest academic degree(s) of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
 Name, address, telephone (including the mobile phone number) and fax
- numbers, and email address of the corresponding author,

• Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript but who do not fulfill the authorship criteria.

Abstract: A Turkish and an English abstract should be submitted with all submissions except for Letters to the Editor. Submitting a Turkish abstract is not compulsory for international authors. The abstract of Original Articles should be structured with subheadings (Objective, Methods, Results, and Conclusion). Please check Table 1 below for word count specifications.

Keywords: Each submission must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of six keywords for subject indexing at the end of the abstract. The keywords should be listed in full without abbreviations. The keywords should be selected from the National Library of Medicine, Medical Subject Headings database (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Manuscript Types

Original Articles: This is the most important type of article since it provides new information based on original research. The main text of original articles should be structured with Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion subheadings. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Original Articles.

Statistical analysis to support conclusions is usually necessary. Statistical analyses must be conducted in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Information on statistical analyses should be provided with a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be specified.

Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Editorial Comments: Editorial comments aim to provide a brief critical commentary by reviewers with expertise or with high reputation in the topic of the research article published in the journal. Authors are selected and invited by the journal to provide such comments. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media are not included.



Review Articles: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Reviews should describe, discuss, and evaluate the current level of knowledge of a topic in clinical practice and should guide future studies. The main text should contain Introduction, Clinical and Research Consequences, and Conclusion sections. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Review Articles.

Case Reports: There is limited space for case reports in the journal and reports on rare cases or conditions that constitute challenges in diagnosis and treatment, those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature, and interesting and educative case reports are accepted for publication. The text should include Introduction, Case Report, Discussion, and Conclusion subheadings. Please check Table 1 for the limitations for Case Reports.

Letters to the Editor: This type of manuscript discusses important parts, overlooked aspects, or lacking parts of a previously published article. Articles on subjects within the scope of the journal that might attract the readers' attention, particularly educative cases, may also be submitted in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Readers can also present their comments on the published manuscripts in the form of a "Letter to the Editor." Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, Images, and other media should not be included. The text should be unstructured. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript.

| Table 1. Limitations for each manuscript type | | | | | |
|---|------------|------------------------|--------------------|-------------|-----------------------------|
| Type of manuscript | Word limit | Abstract word limit | Reference limit | Table limit | Figure limit |
| Original Article | 3500 | 250 (Structured) | 30 | 6 | 7 or tatal of 15 images |
| Review Article | 5000 | 250 | 50 | 6 | 10 or total of 20 images |
| Case Report | 1000 | 200 | 15 | No tables | 10 or total of 20 images |
| Letter to the Editor | 500 | No abstract | 5 | No tables | No media |

Tables

Tables should be included in the main document, presented after the reference list, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text. A descriptive title must be placed above the tables. Abbreviations used in the tables should be defined below the tables by footnotes (even if they are defined within the main text). Tables should be created using the "insert table" command of the word processing software and they should be arranged clearly to provide easy reading. Data presented in the tables should not be a repetition of the data presented within the main text but should be supporting the main text.

Figures and Figure Legends

Figures, graphics, and photographs should be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format) through the submission system. The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc) to indicate figure subunits. Thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images to support figure legends. Like the rest of the submission, the figures too should be blind. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be 300 DPI. To prevent delays in the evaluation process, all submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size (minimum dimensions: 100×100 mm). Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document.

All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text, product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"

All references, tables, and figures should be referred to within the main text, and they should be numbered consecutively in the order they are referred to within the main text.

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

References

While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. If an ahead-of-print publication is cited, the DOI number should be provided. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of references. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index Medicus/ MEDLINE/PubMed. When there are six or fewer authors, all authors should be listed. If there are seven or more authors, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al." In the main text of the manuscript, references should be cited using Arabic numbers in parentheses. The reference styles for different types of publications are presented in the following examples.

Journal Article: Rankovic A, Rancic N, Jovanovic M, Ivanović M, Gajović O, Lazić Z, et al. Impact of imaging diagnostics on the budget – Are we spending too much? Vojnosanit Pregl 2013; 70: 709-11.

Book Section: Suh KN, Keystone JS. Malaria and babesiosis. Gorbach SL, Barlett JG, Blacklow NR, editors. Infectious Diseases. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams; 2004.p.2290-308.



Books with a Single Author: Sweetman SC. Martindale the Complete Drug Reference. 34th ed. London: Pharmaceutical Press; 2005.

Editor(s) as Author: Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

Conference Proceedings: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

Scientific or Technical Report: Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Kidney Int: 2004. Report No: 26.

Thesis: Yılmaz B. Ankara Üniversitesindeki Öğrencilerin Beslenme Durumları, Fiziksel Aktiviteleri ve Beden Kitle İndeksleri Kan Lipidleri Arasındaki Ilişkiler. H.Ü. Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Doktora Tezi. 2007.

Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet: Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974.

Epub Ahead of Print Articles: Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].

Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format: Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

REVISIONS

When submitting a revised version of a paper, the author must submit a detailed "Response to the reviewers" that states point by point how each issue raised by the reviewers has been covered and where it can be found (each reviewer's comment, followed by the author's reply and line numbers where the changes have been made) as well as an annotated copy of the main document. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within 30 days from the date of the decision letter. If the revised version of the manuscript is not submitted within the allocated time, the revision option may be canceled. If the submitting author(s) believe that additional time is required, they should request this extension before the initial 30-day period is over.

Accepted manuscripts are copy-edited for grammar, punctuation, and format. Once the publication process of a manuscript is completed, it is published online on the journal's webpage as an ahead-of-print publication before it is included in its scheduled issue. A PDF proof of the accepted manuscript is sent to the corresponding author and their publication approval is requested within 2 days of their receipt of the proof.

Editor : Feray AKBAŞ

Address: Clinic of Internal Diseases, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Samatya, Fatih, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: atlibatur@yahoo.com

Publisher : GALENOS PUBLISHING HOUSE

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 Fındıkzade 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr



CONTENTS

Case Reports

1 Treatment of Antegrade Left Main Coronary Artery Dissection Due to A latrogenic Catheter Using the Reverse Crush Bifurcation Technique

Ahmet Öz, Süleyman Çağan Efe, Mehmet Sait Altıntaş, Turgut Karabağ, Burak Ayça; İstanbul, Turkey

- 4 Intramuscular Myxoma of the Right Cruris: A Case Report Alican Barış, Esra Circi; İstanbul, Turkey
- 6 Wellens Syndrome Presenting with Sudden Cardiac Arrest Sema Yumrutepe, Yunus Bozkurt, Hanife Usta Atmaca, Mehmet Emin Pişkinpaşa; İstanbul, Turkey
- 9 Rheumatic Diseases Presenting with Guillain-Barré Syndrome: Sjögren's Syndrome and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Ebru Aytekin, Hüdanur Coşkun, Yasemin Pekin Doğan, Burak Tayyip Dede, Özer Burnaz, Ufuk Emre; İstanbul, Turkey
- 12 Menometrorrhagia Due to Sertraline Treatment A Case Report Sevda Bağ; İstanbul, Turkey
- 14 Obesity Treatment Can Also Cure Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Case Report Feray Akbaş, Hanife Usta Atmaca; İstanbul, Turkey
- 17 A Rare Disease in the Differential Diagnosis of Chylothorax: Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia İstemi Serin, Mehmet Hilmi Doğu, Hasan Göze, Harun Muğlu, Osman Yokuş; İstanbul, Turkey
- 20 CADASIL Syndrome Presenting as Adjustment Disorder Sevda Bağ, Pelin Özkara, Evrim Erten; İstanbul, Turkey
- 23 Fever of Unknown Origin: A Patient with Intermittent Idiopathic Fever for Three Years Esma Altunoğlu, Doğan Can Çelik, Sena Hekimoğlu, Enes Özsoy, Mehmet Hilmi Doğu; İstanbul, Turkey
- 26 Giant Size Foreign Body Reaction at the First Web Space in the Hand: A Case Report Esra Circi, Alican Barış; İstanbul, Turkey
- 28 Poland Syndrome with Unilateral Vocal Fold Paralysis Muhammet Yıldız, Zeynep Alkan, Belit Merve Şener, Özgür Yiğit; Antalya, İstanbul, Turkey
- 32 Primary Spinal Epidural Lymphoma: A Case Report Nuriye Güzin Özdemir, Özgür Baran, Ömer Faruk Şahin, Feray Akbaş, Hilal Tan Köker, Gülben Erdem Huq; İstanbul, Turkey

Treatment of Antegrade Left Main Coronary Artery Dissection Due to A latrogenic Catheter Using the Reverse Crush Bifurcation Technique

İatrojenik Katetere Bağlı Antegrad Sol Ana Koroner Arter Diseksiyonunun Reverse Crush Bifurkasyon Tekniği ile Tedavi Edilmesi

● Ahmet Öz, ● Süleyman Çağan Efe, ● Mehmet Sait Altıntaş, ● Turgut Karabağ, ● Burak Ayça University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Turkey



ABSTRACT

latrogenic left main coronary artery (LMCA) dissection is a rare but potentially life-threatening complication of invasive coronary procedures. The technique for managing LMCA dissection varies and depends on the patient's comorbidities and degree of hemodynamic stability. Here, we report the case of a 51-year-old patient with iatrogenic LMCA dissection who was successfully treated using the reverse crush bifurcation technique.

Keywords: latrogenic dissection, left main coronary artery, reverse crush bifurcation technique

ÖΖ

İatrojenik sol ana koroner arter (LMCA) diseksiyonu, invaziv koroner prosedürlerin nadir ancak potansiyel olarak yaşamı tehdit edici bir komplikasyonudur. LMCA diseksiyonunu yönetme stratejisi değişkendir ve hastanın komorbiditelerine ve hemodinamik stabilite derecesine bağlıdır. Burada; 51 yaşında erkek iatrojenik LMCA diseksiyonu olan hastanın reverse crush bifurkasyon tekniği ile başarılı bir şekilde tedavi edildiği bir olgu sunulmuştur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: latrojenik diseksiyon, sol ana koroner arter, reverse crush bifurkasyon tekniği

Introduction

Coronary angiography is widely used worldwide (1). The overall complication rate in diagnostic coronary angiography is very low. Despite the experience of advanced catheter technologies and physicians, stroke and dissection/occlusion of peripheral or coronary arteries still remain a major problem in cardiac catheterization (2). The left main coronary artery (LMCA) is a significant and rare complication. LMCA dissection may occur due to iatrogenic, spontaneous, or ascending aortic dissection complication (3). latrogenic LMCA dissection can be seen as antegrade or retrograde dissection (4). Here; a case of iatrogenically catheter-induced antegrade LMCA dissection and successfully treated using reverse crush bifurcation technique was presented.

Case Report

A 51-year-old male patient was evaluated in an outpatient clinic with a typical complaint of exertion dyspnea and angina that occurred with minimal exertion over the last 20 days. On physical examination, the heart sounds were rhythmic and no additional sound/murmur was heard. Other system examinations were normal. His resume included hyperlipidemia and smoking. He had no history of constant drug use. His pedigree had no obvious features. His electrocardiogram was in sinus rhythm. No change in segment ST-T was observed, and systolic function was normal in echocardiography (EF 60%). The patient was admitted to the coronary intensive care unit with the diagnosis of unstabil angina pectoris. Blood tests showed fasting blood glucose: 101 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.7 mg/dL, low-density lipoprotein: 220 mg/dL and HbA1c: 5.5 mmoL/ moL. Selective coronary angiography was planned for the patient and written informed consent was obtained. In coronary angiography; There was plaque in the distal of the LMCA, subtotal stenosis in the osteal of the left anterior descending (LAD) artery and distal TIMI-3 flow. The circumflex (CX) artery was detected with plaques in the first poses, and the dissection line extending from the LMCA to the distal of the CX artery was observed in the caudal poses. The right coronary artery was found



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Ahmet Öz MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 07.12.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 06.01.2020

Phone: +90 533 207 55 10 E-mail: drozahmet@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0268-9641

Cite this article as/Atuf: : Öz A, Efe SÇ, Altıntaş MS, Karabağ T, Ayça B. Treatment of Antegrade Left Main Coronary Artery Dissection Due to A latrogenic Catheter Using the Reverse Crush Bifurcation Technique. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 1-3.

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. © Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. with plaques (Figure 1). After the patient had severe angina during the coronary imaging process and monitoring ST depressions on the monitor, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) was planned for the patient's lesions. The left system was cannulated with a 7-F EBU 3.75 guiding catheter. 8,000 units of heparin and intravenous tirofiban were administered. Soft wires were directed to the LAD artery and CX artery distal. LAD artery osteal lesion was predilated using a 2.0x15 mm balloon. Then, a 3.0x18 mm drug-eluting stent (DES) was implanted from the LMCA at 16 atm to the LAD artery osteal region, Proximal optimization technique was performed with a 4.0x9 mm non-compliant balloon. Soft wire was advanced distally by performing CX artery rewiring. Kissing dilatation was applied using LAD artery 3.0x15 mm and CX artery 2.0x20 mm balloons. When 3.0x33 mm DES could not be advanced to the CX artery lesion, kissing dilatation was applied again using LAD artery 3.0x15 mm and CX artery 3.0x12 mm balloons. Subsequently, the proximal 3.0x33 mm DES was implanted in the CX artery at 16 atm, with the LMCA stent enclosed. Since dissection was limited in the distal of the stent and it did not disturb the distal flow, he was followed up medically. The stent was crushed with a 3.0x15 mm balloon, the proximal part of which was parked in the LAD artery. CX artery rewiring was done again and kissing dilatation was applied with 3.0x15 mm balloons. Due to dissection line monitoring in LMCA proximal, 4.5x9 mm bare metal stent was implanted at 16 atm. The patient's angina complaints regressed, ST depression improved, and the procedure was terminated. After 4 days of follow-up in the coronary intensive care unit, the patient was discharged with acetyl salicylic acid 100 mg 1x1, clopidogrel 75 mg 1x1, metoprolol 50 mg 1x1, ramipril 2.5 mg 1x1, pantoprozole 40 mg 1x1 and atorvastatin 40 mg 1x1 and control coronary angiography was planned. In the control coronary angiography performed one month later; The LMCA stent was open, minimal dissection area at the proximal stent, LAD artery stent open, CX artery stent open, dissection area distal to the stent that limited itself and did not disrupt the flow was detected (Figure 2). Since the patient did not have angina and exertional dyspnea, medical follow-up was decided.

Discussion

latrogenic LMCA dissection is a rare complication during coronary angiography or angioplasty. Incidence has been reported at



Figure 1. A: Subtotal stenosis in the left anterior descending artery osteal, B: Dissection extending from left main coronary artery to distal to circumflex artery, C: Right coronary artery plated, D: Kissing ballooning, E: dissection at proximal left main coronary artery, F: Left anterior descending artery proximal stent implantation, G: Successful reverse crush bifurcation stenting



Figure 2. A, B: Open left main coronary artery stent, minimal dissection area proximal to stent, C: Circumflex artery stent is open; self-limiting dissection line distal to the stent

approximately 0.07% (5). Iatrogenic LMCA dissection risk factors may depend on the patient and the procedure. Patient-related risk factors can be listed as; coronary artery abnormalities, connective tissue disorders (Marfan's syndrome), atherosclerotic changes (LMCA stenosis), arterial hypertension, bicuspid aortic valve, aortic root calcification and age (6). Procedure-related risk factors include catheter manipulation, use of >6F catheters, stiff catheter tips, strong contrast agent injection, balloon dilation, and stenting (7,8). Medical follow-up (if there is no hemodynamic disorder), PCI and coronary bypass operation are available as treatment. PCI is preferred in hemodynamically unstable patients in terms of time and technique (9). In an observational study involving 38 patients with iatrogenic LMCA dissection, 6 patients were treated conservatively, 14 patients were treated percutaneously, and 17 patients surgically. No difference was found between percutaneous intervention and surgery during the 5-year follow-up (5). If the hemodynamics of patients with iatrogenic LMCA dissection are not stable, it is very important for a positive result to be controlled quickly with percutaneous intervention. Our case was also successfully treated with reverse crush bifurcation technique due to unexpected catheterinduced LMCA dissection disrupting the patient's hemodynamics.

As a result, the best treatment strategy of choice in patients with iatrogenic LMCA dissection is immediate recognition of this complication, determination of the hemodynamic state of the patient and the need for surgery. Stenting strategy by percutaneous intervention is acceptable in hemodynamically unstable patients and should be carried out as soon as possible.

Ethics

Informed Consent: The patient and written informed consent was obtained.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - A.Ö., B.A.; Concept - A.Ö.; Design - A.Ö., B.A., T.K.; Data Collection or Processing -S.Ç.E.; Literature Search - M.S.A., S.Ç.E.; Writing - A.Ö., T.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

 Noto TJ Jr, Johnson LW, Krone R, Weaver WF, Clark DA, Kramer JR Jr, et al. Cardiac catheterization 1990: a report of the Registry of the Society for Cardiac Angiography and Interventions (SCA&I). Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn 1991; 24: 75-83.

- Ammann P, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Angehrn W, Roelli H, Sagmeister M, Rickli H. Procedural complications following diagnostic coronary angiography are related to the operator's experience and the catheter size. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2003; 59: 13-8.
- Awadalla H, Sabet S, El Sebaie A, Rosales O, Smalling R. Catheter-induced left main dissection incidence, predisposition and therapeutic strategies experience from two sides of the hemisphere. J Invasive Cardiol 2005; 17: 233-6.
- Hokken RB, Foley D, van Domburg R, Serruys PW. Left main coronary artery dissection during percutaneous coronary intervention treated by stenting. Neth Heart J 2002; 10: 395-8.
- Eshtehardi P, Adorjan P, Togni M, Tevaearai H, Vogel R, Seiler C, et al. latrogenic left main coronary artery dissection: incidence, classification, management, and long-term follow-up. Am Heart J 2010; 159: 1147-53.

- Awadalla H, Sabet S, El Sebaie A, Rosales O, Smalling R. Catheter induced left main dissection incidence, predisposition and therapeutic strategies experience from two sides of the hemisphere. J Invasive Cardiol 2005; 17: 233-6.
- 7. Kovac JD, de Bono DP. Cardiac catheter complications related to left main stem disease. Heart 1996; 76: 76-8.
- 8. Boyle AJ, Chan M, Dib J, Resar J. Catheter-induced coronary artery dissection: risk factors, prevention and management. J Invasive Cardiol 2006; 18: 500-3.
- 9. Cheng CI, Wu CJ, Hsieh YK, Chen YH, Chen CJ, Chen SM, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention for iatrogenic left main coronary artery dissection. Int J Cardiol 2008; 126: 177-82.

Intramuscular Myxoma of the Right Cruris: A Case Report

Sağ Bacakta İntramusküler Miksoma: Olgu Sunumu

Alican Barış, Esra Circi

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey

ÖΖ

ABSTRACT

Intramuscular myxoma is one of the rare soft tissue benign tumours. The most common localisation of the myxoma is the heart muscle. It has been reported less frequently in the hip and around the shoulder, trunk, neck and cruris. We aimed to report this rare case of the cruris.

Keywords: Benign tumour, cruris, intramuscular myxoma

İntramusküler miksoma yumusak dokunun iyi huylu nadir tümörlerinden biridir. Miksomanın tipik yerleşim yeri kalp kasıdır. Kalça, omuz çevresi, gövde, boyun ve bacakta daha az rastlanmaktadır. Bacakta görülen bu nadir olguyu bildirmeyi amaçladık.

Anahtar Kelimeler: İyi huylu tümör, bacak, intramusküler miksoma

Introduction

Intramuscular myxoma is a rare benign soft tissue tumour of mesenchymal origin surrounded by muscular tissue (1,2). Myxomas are slow-growing tumours. They are most commonly localised in the heart muscle, while other rare cases were detected within the muscle tissue of the extremities. It has been reported less frequently in the hip and around the shoulder, trunk, neck and cruris (3). It is observed more frequently among women in the fourth to sixth decades (4,5). Therefore, we aimed to report this rare case.

Case Report

Informed consent was obtained from the patient for the case presentation below. A 56-year-old female patient was evaluated for pain and swelling in the right cruris. The patient had been suffering from this complaint of swelling for six months, with the addition of pain for the last month. On physical examination, the lesion was found to be firm, mobile and painful. The patient was evaluated by ultrasonography and magnetic resonance imaging. The mass was found as well-circumscribed with homogenous signal intensity, located on the proximal cruris anteriormedial side in the subcutaneous fat tissue and having a size of 24x64 mm The lesion was demonstrated by T1 weighted sequences low signal intensity and T2 fat suppressed sequences high signal intensity in the magnetic resonance imaging. The mass, which was distinct from the surrounding tissues, was excised in the form of an en-block with a narrow margin using a longitudinal incision (Figure 1). Histopathology

demonstrated a tumour consisting of spindle- and stellate-shaped cells embedded within loose fibrous and myxoid stroma. It was found to be moderately well-circumscribed. Atypical cytologic features and mitotic figures were not detected. The lesion contained fatty tissue areas separated by fibrous bands in the fibroadipous tissues. This benign lesion was defined as a myxoma. The pain and cosmetic complaints



Figure 1. Intramuscular myxoma view during surgery



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Alican Barış MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 532 410 18 81 E-mail: dralicanbaris@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6031-6777 Cite this article as/Atif: Baris A, Circi E. Intramuscular Myxoma of the Right Cruris: A Case Report. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 4-5.

Received/Gelis Tarihi: 21.12.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 12.02.2020

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.

were resolved after the surgery. It is thought that the pain complaint may have resulted from the local pressure effect of the mass. Physical examination did not observe any recurrences of the mass during the 2-year postoperative follow-up.

Discussion

Benign and malignant soft tissue tumour, haematoma and abscess should be considered in the differential diagnosis. The intramuscular myxoma has not been observed in the presence of cellular atypia, increased mitotic activity and rapid growth (6). The separation of the borders from the surrounding muscle tissue in the radiological evaluation helps in the differential diagnosis (7). The relationship between intramuscular myxoma and fibrous dysplasia is known. Mazabraud's syndrome is a rare syndrome in which benign intramuscular myxoma occurs in association with a monostotic or polyostotic form of fibrous dysplasia on the bone (8,9). It may accompany the McCune Albright syndrome (10). Complete excision with narrow margins is advised. The researcher revealed the occurrence of local recurrence in association with the incompletely excised tumours. Metastases and a locally aggressive behaviour have not been observed. Neoadjuvant and adjuvant treatment were not recommended (11).

Intramuscular myxoma should be considered in the differential diagnosis of soft tissue lesions of the lower extremities.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient for the case presentation below.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.C.; Concept - A.B., E.C.; Design - A.B.; Data Collection or Processing - A.B., E.C.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.C.; Literature Search - A.B., E.C.; Writing - A.B. Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Domino JS, Weindel S, Woodrow S. Multiple paraspinal intramuscular myxomas: case report. J Neurosurg Spine 2019; 32: 491-632.
- Custódio M, Antunes E, Alves G, Braz-Silva P. Unexpected diagnosis of an intramuscular myxoma arising from the masseter muscle. Br J Oral and Maxillofac Surg 2002; 58: 109-11.
- Tirefort J, Kolo FC, L\u00e4dermann A. An Interesting Case of Intramuscular Myxoma with Scapular Bone Lysis. Case Rep Orthop 2017; 2017: 1690409.
- Silver WP, Harrelson JM, Scully SP. Intramuscular myxoma: a clinicopathologic study of 17 patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2002: 191-7.
- Enzinger FM. Intramuscular myxoma: a review and follow-up study of 34 cases. Am J Clin Pathol 1965; 43: 104-13.
- Bekers EM, Eijkelenboom A, Rombout P, van Zwam P, Mol S, Ruijter E, et al. Identification of novel GNAS mutations in intramuscular myxoma using next-generation sequencing with single-molecule tagged molecular inversion probes. Diagn Pathol 2019; 14.
- Wang W, Smitaman E, Rubenstein W, Hughes T, Huang BK. Post-biopsy MRI changes in the size and enhancement of intramuscular myxomas: A report of two cases. Clin Imaging 2018; 48: 55-61.
- Jalan D, Jain P. Mazabraud's Syndrome-A Diagnosis Commonly Missed. J Orthop Case Rep 2019; 9: 26-9.
- Majoor B, van de Sande M, Appelman-Dijkstra N, Leithner A, Jutte P, Vélez R, et al. Prevalence and clinical features of Mazabraud's syndrome: a multicentre European survey. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2019; 101: 160-8.
- 10. Macfarlane P, Lew W, Neuhaus S. An aggressive case of Mazabraud's syndrome. Eur J Surg Oncol 2007; 33: 1087-9.
- 11. Fetsch JF, Laskin WB, Miettinen M. Superficial acral fibromyxoma: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical analysis of 37 cases of a distinctive soft tissue tumor with a predilection for the fingers and toes. Hum Pathol 2001; 32: 704-14.

Wellens Syndrome Presenting with Sudden Cardiac Arrest

ÖΖ

Wellens Sendromuna Bağlı Kardiyak Arrest: Olgu Sunumu

🕲 Sema Yumrutepe, 🕲 Yunus Bozkurt, 🕲 Hanife Usta Atmaca, 🕲 Mehmet Emin Pişkinpaşa

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Wellens syndrome is characterised by changes in electrocardiogram precordial lead T-waves accompanied by proximal stenosis of the left anterior descending artery. Diagnostic criteria include T-wave changes plus a history of anginal chest pain without serum marker abnormalities, with significant ST-segment elevation and lack of Q waves. Wellens syndrome results in anterior wall acute myocardial infarction and cardiac death. We describe the case of a 33-year-old man who presented to the emergency clinic with cardiac arrest.

Keywords: Wellens syndrome, T-wave changes, cardiac arrest

Wellens sendromu prekordiyal T-dalga değişikliği ve sol ön inen arterin kritik darlığı ile karekterizedir. Tanı kriterleri T-dalgası değişiklikleri ve serum enzim yükselmesi olmaksızın anjinal göğüs ağrısı öyküsü, Q dalgası yokluğu, belirgin ST- segment elevasyonunu içerir. Wellens sendromu akut yaygın ön duvar enfarktüsü veya kardiyak ölüm ile sonuçlanabilmektedir. Burada acil kliniğe ani kardiyak arrestle getirilen 33 yaşında erkek hasta sunulacaktır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Wellens sendromu, T-dalga değişikliği, kardiyak arrest

Introduction

Wellens syndrome was first described in 1982 and is a syndrome characterized by critical stenosis of the left anterior descending (LAD) artery and unique electrocardiogram (ECG) findings. It was first demonstrated by the detection of critical LAD artery stenosis in a group of patients with angina pectoris (1). There are two different ECG patterns. Type A pattern is less visible and more specific, and characterized by the presence of biphasic T-waves, which are mostly seen in precordial derivations, especially in V2-V3. Type B pattern is more common and is characterized by deep and symmetrical T-waves in the anterior derivation (1,2). In its etiology, there is a critical stenosis of LAD artery, and when undiagnosed, it may result in myocardial infarction or even death. Here, we present a young patient who was brought to the hospital with cardiac arrest and had Wellens syndrome pattern on ECG and 98% stenosis in the LAD artery on coronary angiography and underwent restenosis treatment.

Case Report

A 33-year-old male patient was brought to our emergency clinic with a picture of respiratory and cardiac arrest. In his history, it was learned that there was a feeling of pressure in the chest for the last few months whose frequency and duration increased gradually in the last week, and that

there were no additional suggestions after the ECG taken at the health institution he applied a week ago. It was stated by his relatives that he suddenly collapsed in the morning, could not breathe and became bruised and was brought to the emergency room quickly. It was learned that he had a history of smoking 20 packs/year, occasional alcohol and infrequent substance use. Cardiovascular resuscitation was performed in the patient, whose respiration was not observed and did not have a heart beat at admission. After the intervention, the patient who had a peak heartbeat but had insufficient spontaneous respiration was taken to the intensive care unit. The patient's ECG at admission also showed high widespread ST in V1-V6 derivations. In the ECG performed 1 week ago, aV2-V4 biphasic T-wave was observed (Figure 1). Emergency cardiac catheterization was performed with the diagnosis of Wellens syndrome and widespread anterior wall myocardial infarction. In coronary angiography, critical stenosis (98%) was detected in the proximal LAD artery and it was revascularized (Figure 2, 3). He was extubated on the second day because he had spontaneous breathing. Antibiotherapy was started when pneumonic consolidation was observed in the chest radiography of the patient whose fever increased in the follow-up. On the seventh day, the patient, whose infective parameters regressed, had no additional problems, was discharged.



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Hanife Usta Atmaca MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 24.12.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 03.03.2020

Phone: +90 530 312 29 73 E-mail: hanifeusta@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-6591-4810

Cite this article as/Atif: Yumrutepe S, Bozkurt Y, Usta Atmaca H, Pişkinpaşa ME. Wellens Syndrome Presenting with Sudden Cardiac Arrest. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 6-8.

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. © Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.

Discussion

T-wave changes seen in the ECG in Wellens syndrome can often be overlooked in the symptom-free period or are generally considered as non-specific. When not recognized, myocardial infarction can even result in death. The patient who is diagnosed with with intermittent chest pain or ambiguous complaints, a T-wave change in the ECG performed at the moment when there is no complaint of pain is characterized. In patients with a type A pattern on the ECG, the findings may turn into a type B pattern over time. Chest pain can be specific and non-specific.

de Zwaan et al. (2) first identified Wellens syndrome in 180 out of 1,260 patients with angina in the presence of typical ECG changes and stenosis



Figure 1. Negative T-waves in V3-5 derivations on electrocardiography at admission



Figure 2. Coronary angiography showing 95% stenosis in the lumen of the proximal segment in the left anterior descending coronary artery



Figure 3. After successful revascularization, re-flow was enabled in left anterior descending

in the proximal LAD artery. While 108 patients had typical ECG findings at admission, it was detected later in 72 patients.

Diagnostic criteria of Wellens syndrome are intermittent chest pain, biphasic or symmetrical deep inverted T-waves primarily in V2 and V3, absence of pathological precordial Q waves, minimal increase or absence of cardiac enzymes (3). ECG findings in Wellens syndrome are typical before myocardial infarction develops, and recognition during this period is life-saving. When diagnosed, the first procedure to be performed is conventional angiography (4,5).

In some cases, ECG findings are seen without LAD stenosis, this situation is called pseudo-wellens. These are acute cholecystitis, congenital myocardial band, Takotsubo cardiomyopathy and substance abuse. In such cases, a good history and clinical examination should be evaluated. As a matter of fact, in the study conducted by Kobayashi et al. (6), the analysis of 424 patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction revealed a Wellens ECG pattern in 4.2% of the patients, but LAD stenosis in only 50%.

Although the cause of dynamic ECG changes is not fully known, LAD mimics vasospasm in the artery. It is thought that malnutrition and subsequent reperfusion may cause ECG changes.

This case resulted in sudden cardiovascular arrest due to the fact that the patient was not diagnosed despite the presence of non-specific chest pain prior to it. This reveals the importance of early diagnosis in Wellens syndrome. The incidence of myocardial infarction and sudden death has significantly increased in these patients, and revascularization is recommended when the diagnosis is made (3).

Ethics

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this case report and any accompanying images.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - S.Y., Y.B., H.U.A., M.E.P.; Concept - H.U.A., M.E.P.; Design - H.U.A.; Data Collection or Processing - S.Y.; Analysis or Interpretation - Y.B.; Literature Search -S.Y., Y.B., M.E.P.; Writing - S.Y., Y.B., H.U.A., M.E.P.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

1. de Zwaan C, Bär FW, Wellens HJ. Characteristic electrocardiographic pattern indicating a critical stenosis high in left anterior descending coronary artery in patients admitted because of impending myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 1982; 103: 730-6.

- de Zwaan C, Bär FW, Janssen JH, Cheriex EC, Dassen WR, Brugada P, et al. Angiographic and clinical characteristics of patients with unstable angina showing an ECG pattern indicating critical narrowing of the proximal LAD coronary artery. Am Heart J 1989; 117: 657-65.
- 3. Rhinehardt J, Brady WJ, Perron AD, Mattu A. Electrocardiographic manifestations of Wellens' syndrome. Am J Emerg Med 2002; 20: 638-43.
- Drobni ZD, Károlyi M, Heltai K, Simon A, Merkely B, Maurovich-Horvát P. Wellens' syndrome depicted by coronary CT angiography. J Cardiovasc Emerg 2016; 2: 185-7.
- Abulaiti A, Aini R, Xu H, Song Z. A special case of Wellens' syndrome. J Cardiovasc Dis Res 2013; 4: 51-4.
- 6. Kobayashi A, Misumida N, Kanei Y, Fox J. CRT-111 prevalence and prognostic value of Wellens' sign in patients with non-ST elevation myocardial infarction. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 11-2.

Rheumatic Diseases Presenting with Guillain-Barré Syndrome: Sjögren's Syndrome and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

Guillain-Barré Sendromu ile Prezente Olan Romatolojik Hastalıklar: Sjögren Sendromu ve Sistemik Lupus Eritematozus

● Ebru Aytekin¹, ● Hüdanur Coşkun¹, ● Yasemin Pekin Doğan¹, ● Burak Tayyip Dede¹, ● Özer Burnaz¹, ● Ufuk Emre²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

The coexistence of Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) with autoimmune rheumatic diseases is extremely rare. In addition to flu, infection, trauma, vaccination, blood transfusion, chemotherapy and surgical intervention, rheumatic diseases may be the underlying etiological cause of resistant and prolonged GBS cases. Therefore, appropriate treatments specific to rheumatic diseases may accelerate the healing process, reduce the possibility of neurological sequelae and greatly contribute to the rehabilitation process.

Keywords: Guillain-Barré syndrome, rehabilitation, rheumatic diseases, systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjögren syndrome

Introduction

Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is an acute inflammatory polyneuropathy characterized by rapidly progressive symmetrical muscle weakness and loss of deep tendon reflexes (DTR). Symptoms usually start in the lower extremities and progress to the trunk and upper extremities within days. The progression is usually symmetrical. Sensory loss, autonomic and cranial neuropathy, and neuropathic pain often accompany. Neurological signs develop over a period of several days to a month. If it is longer than one month, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy is mentioned (1). It is generally a middle-age disease and is more common in men (2). Influenza infection, trauma, vaccination, blood transfusion, chemotherapy, and surgical intervention that occurred weeks before the onset of symptoms are included in the etiology (3). Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a systemic autoimmune disease characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of all exocrine glands, primarily tear and salivary glands. The incidence in women is 9 times higher, similar to other autoimmune diseases, and it peaks in the 4th-5th decades

ÖΖ

Guillain-Barré sendromu (GBS) ile otoimmün romatolojik hastalıkların birlikteliği oldukça nadirdir. Gribal enfeksiyon, travma, aşılama, kan transfüzyonu, kemoterapi ve cerrahi girişim yanında dirençli ve uzun süren GBS olgularında romatolojik hastalıklar altta yatan etiyolojik neden olabilir. Romatolojik hastalığa özgü spesifik tedavi iyileşme sürecini hızlandırarak nörolojik sekel kalma olasılığını azaltır ve rehabilitasyon sürecine büyük oranda katkı sağlar.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Guillain-Barré sendromu, rehabilitasyon, romatolojik hastalıklar, sistemik lupus eritematozus, Sjögren sendromu

(4). It is more common for patients with SS in advanced age to manifest with neurological complications (2). Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic connective tissue disease with unknown etiology and autoimmune character, which cause immunological disorders and involving many organs and systems. Central nervous system involvement constitutes 93.1% of the neurological involvement seen in SLE. Its association with GBS is quite low, such as 0.6-1.7% (5). Here, a female patient who developed GBS after previous gastrointestinal surgery and was diagnosed with SS afterwards, and a young male patient diagnosed with SLE after the development of GBS will be discussed in the light of the literature.

Case Reports

Case 1

A 56-year-old female patient was hospitalized with the diagnosis of GBS for rehabilitation. In her history, she had a diagnosis of hiatal hernia, which was made in an external center where she applied with the



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Ebru Aytekin MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 533 713 76 49 E-mail: ebruaytekin@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-9619-3374 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 19.02.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 25.03.2020

Cite this article as/Atif: Aytekin E, Coşkun H, Pekin Doğan Y, Dede BT, Burnaz Ö, Emre U. Rheumatic Diseases Presenting with Guillain-Barré Syndrome: Sjögren's Syndrome and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 9-11.

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. complaint of shortness of breath 6 years ago. Nissen fundoplication operation was applied to the patient in May 2018 due to the ongoing and increasing complaints of shortness of breath and vomiting during this period. When the complaints of vomiting started 2-3 months after the operation, the patient was referred to the general surgery clinic of our hospital, and the mesh migration was seen in the gastroscopy performed in January 2019 and the operation decision was taken. Antibiotic treatment was arranged due to the development of subcutaneous infection during follow-up. On January 29, 2019, she was consulted with the neurology clinic due to numbness around the mouth and weakness in the arms and legs. No feature was detected in the brain magnetic resonance imaging of the patient. An electroneuromyography (ENMG) study showed acute sensorimotor polyneuropathy, in which motor axonal damage to the upper and lower sensory and motor fibers is at the forefront and the sural response is maintained. The patient was transferred to the neurology service with the pre-diagnosis of GBS. Protein was found to be high (134 mg/dL) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) examination in lumbar puncture (LP). There was no reproduction in the CSF culture. In the neurology service, the patient was given intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) at a dose of 0.4 kg/day for 5 days. After one month, the patient was transferred to our service. In the patient's neurological examination, muscle strength was 3/5 in the right and left lower and upper extremities. DTR's were hypoactive. The patient's sitting balance, fine ability in the hands and grip strength were very poor. The patient was given joint range of motion (ROM), stretching, strengthening exercises, back and abdominal muscles strengthening, sitting balance training and neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES) (bilateral tibialis anterior, quadriceps, hamstring, wrist flexors and extensors, supraspinatus and deltoid) for four extremities in the bed. Afterwards, training was continued with standing with posterior shell and foot-ankle orthosis and walking with parallel bar.

Since the acute phase reactants were elevated during the patient's hospitalization in the physical therapy service, infection and malignancy were investigated in etiological aspect. Endoscopy, colonoscopy, abdominal and thorax computed tomography, breast ultrasonography and mammography were unremarkable. Her gynecological examination was normal. Protein electrophoresis, serum and urine immunofixation electrophoresis, tuberculosis culture was negative. Blood glucose levels were normal.

An extractable nuclear antigen profile was requested from the patient who had vague hand pain and dry mouth. The result of salivary gland biopsy taken with a pre-diagnosis of SS from the patient with anti-SSA positivity was negative.

A patient who was found to have dry eyes in the Schirmer test (right eye: 5 mm, left eye: 5 mm) was consulted with the rheumatology clinic, followed by pulse steroid (1000 mg/day, 3 days IV, then oral 40 mg prednisolone), rituximab was given as immunosuppressive and IVIG booster was given for 5 days. Sedimentation rate decreased from 103 mm/hour to 42 mm/hour. Steroid dose was reduced to 5 mg/day. Hydroxychloroquine was started at a dose of 200 mg/day as a disease modifier. Muscle strength increased to 4/5 level. At the end of the 4-week rehabilitation period, the patient reached the level of ambulation without the need for a device in the parallel bar. At 6th

months after discharge, the patient could ambulate without support and was independent in daily living activities. Written informed consent form was obtained from the patient.

Case 2

A 39-year-old male patient applied to the emergency service of our hospital 3 months ago with complaints of weakness in the arms and legs and numbness in the hands after acute gastroenteritis lasting about a week. In the emergency examinations and cranial imaging, the patient, who had no neurological pathology explaining the acute picture, was transferred to the neurology service with the pre-diagnosis of GBS. In the CSF examination with LP, the protein level was found to be high and no cells were detected. In ENMG, acute demyelinating polyneuropathy was detected, where motor axonal damage and message block holding motor fibers at the top and bottom were at the forefront. The patient, who received IVIG treatment at a dose of 0.4 kg/day for 5 days with the diagnosis of GBS, was then transferred to our service for rehabilitation. In the patient's neurological examination, muscle strength was 1/5 in the right and left lower and upper extremities. The patient lacked balance of sitting, fine skill and grip in the hands. Muscle tone was hypotonic and DTRs could not be taken. In our service, training on in-bed positioning, ROM exercises, and sitting balance was started. Strengthening exercises were given to upper and lower extremities, abdominal and back muscles. NMES was applied to bilateral quadriceps, tibialis anterior, hamstring, finger flexor and extensor, wrist flexor and extensor, deltoid, supraspinatus muscles.

After the antinuclear antibody, anti-dsDNA and anti-Ro antibodies of the patient who was examined for vasculitis tests as part of the etiological examination resulted positive, he was consulted with the rheumatology clinic. The patient, who was diagnosed with SLE with SLE International Cooperation Classification Criteria, was continued with 60 mg/day prednisolone after pulse steroid for 7 days. Considering that SLE had neurological involvement, rituximab and hydroxychloroquine 200 mg 2x1/day was started. Antiviral therapy (entecavir) was started with the consultation of infectious diseases clinic to the patient with accompanying anti-HBclgG positivity. In addition, plasmapheresis with 10 sessions of albumin was applied to the patient. With the response to the treatment, the steroid dose was reduced to 5 mg/day. Monthly IVIG booster application continued. After 3 months of rehabilitation, the patient reached the level of ambulation in the parallel bar. Written informed consent form was obtained from the patient.

Discussion

Neurological involvement is 20% in patients with SS. Interestingly; neurological signs may precede the symptoms of sicca. Various types of peripheral neuropathy have been identified in patients with SS [symmetrical sensorimotor polyneuropathy (most common), symmetrical sensory neuropathy, sensory neuronopathy, autonomic neuropathy, mononeuropathy, mononeuropathy multiplex, and cranial neuropathy (especially trigeminal neuropathy)]. The variety of clinical symptoms may cause delays in the diagnosis of SS (2). Association of SS and GBS is rare in the literature (6,7). In a study that tracked cases that developed GBS after surgery, the average age of patients was 55, and the

proportion of male patients was 56.5%. The average time between the surgical procedure and the development of GBS has been reported as 8 weeks. It has been observed that the risk of GBS is increased in patients with malignancy and comorbid autoimmune diseases. In the same study, association with autoimmune diseases was found in 10% of cases and a diagnosis of SS was found in 1.5% of cases. As a surgical procedure, it was most frequently (32.1%) associated with gastrointestinal surgery (3). The age of our patient was compatible with this case series. The diagnosis of SS and the gastrointestinal surgical procedure performed 2 months ago were considered as risk factors and indicators of poor prognosis.

1999 American College of Rheumatology identified 7 types of peripheral neuropathy associated with SLE: Acute inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy GBS, autonomic disorder, mononeuropathy, myasthenia gravis, cranial neuropathy, plexopathy, polyneuropathy. Coexistence of GBS and SLE is extremely rare among these. SLE is an autoimmune systemic disease with complex and varied clinical symptoms. Since GBS-like acute axonal neuropathies are rare in SLE patients, controlled clinical studies are insufficient. However, the relationship between SLE and GBS has been proven with the data in the literature (5).

In conclusion, it should be kept in mind in terms of early initiation of treatment and patient prognosis that there may be accompanying autoimmune rheumatologic disease in patients with GBS diagnosis. Anamnesis specific to autoimmune diseases, especially SS and SLE diseases, should be questioned and advanced laboratory examinations should be performed especially in patients with GBS, which are refractory and tend to become chronic at an advanced age.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Written informed consent form was obtained from the patient.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.A., Y.P.D., B.T.D., U.E.; Concept - E.A., Y.P.D., B.T.D., U.E.; Design - E.A., Y.P.D., Ö.B., U.E.; Data Collection or Processing - E.A., H.C., B.T.D., Ö.B.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.A., H.C., Y.P.D., U.E.; Literature Search - E.A., H.C., Ö.B.; Writing - E.A., H.C.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Varkal MA, Yıldız E, Yıldız İ, Aydınlı N, Ünüvar E. Çocukluk Çağında Guillain-Barré Sendromu. Çocuk Dergisi 2015; 15: 89-98.
- Lin YK, Yang FC, Liu FC, Lee JT, Sung YF. Co-Cccurrence of Guillain-Barre Syndrome and Primary Sjögren Syndrome in an Elderly Woman. Acta Neurol Taiwan 2016; 25: 83-7.
- Nagarajan E, Rubin MN, Wijdicks E, Hocker S. Guillain-Barré syndrome after surgical procedures. Predisposing factors and outcome. Neurol Clin Pract 2017; 7: 1-9.
- Vitali C, Bombardieri S, Jonsson R, Moutsopoulos HM, Alexander EL, Carsons SE, et al. Classification criteria for Sjögren's syndrome: a revised version of the European criteria proposed by the American-European Consensus Group. Ann Rheum Dis 2002; 61: 554-8.
- Bortoluzzi A, Silvagni E, Furini F, Piga M, Govoni M. Peripheral nervous system involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus: a review of the evidence. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2019; 37: 146-55.
- Pryszmont M, Sierakowski S, Popławska T, Domysławska I, Pryszmont J, Pawlak-Tumiel B. Guillain-Barré syndrome in a patient with primary sicca syndrome. Neurol Neurochir Pol 2000; 34: 1235-41.
- 7. Awad A, Mathew S, Katirji B. Acute motor axonal neuropathy in association with Sjögren syndrome. Muscle Nerve 2010; 42: 828-30.

Menometrorrhagia Due to Sertraline Treatment A Case Report

Sertralin Kullanımına Bağlı Menometroraji: Olgu Sunumu

D Sevda Bağ

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are antidepressant drugs commonly used in psychiatric diseases. The most common side effects of sertraline are diarrhea, constipation, sexual side effects, fatigue, dizziness, nausea, but sertralinerelated bleeding disorder is a less common side effect. In our case, we aimed to present a case where we started sertraline, as a result of the diagnosis of depression and it seems abnormal bleeding other than menstrual time after the drug dose was increased called as menometrorrhagia and after the cessation of sertraline bleeding is ended.

Keywords: Menometrorrhagia, depression, sertraline

ÖΖ

Seçici serotonin geri alım inhibitörleri psikiyatrik hastalıklarda yaygın olarak kullanılan antidepresan ilaçlardır. Sertralinin en sık görülen yan etkileri ishal, kabızlık, cinsel yan etkiler, yorgunluk, baş dönmesi, mide bulantısıdır ancak sertralin ile ilişkili kanama bozukluğu daha az görülen bir yan etkidir. Biz olgumuzda depresyon tanısı koyarak sertalin başladığımız, ilaç dozunun yükseltilmesi sonrasında adet zamanı dışında anormal kanama olarak tanımlanan menometroraji görülmesi ve sertralinin kesilmesi sonrası kanamanın gerilemesi sonucu sertraline bağlı olduğunu düşündüğümüz bir olgu sunmayı amaçladık.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Menometroraj, depresyon, sertralin

Introduction

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) are antidepressant drugs commonly used in psychiatric diseases (1). Sertraline is an SSRI molecule and is used in various psychiatric tables, primarily depression, due to its low side effects. The most common side effects of sertraline are diarrhea, constipation, sexual side effects, fatigue, dizziness, nausea, but bleeding disorder associated with sertraline is a less common side effect (2). Ecchymosis due to sertalin use was included in the cases (3). Here, we present a case with menometrorrhagia defined as abnormal bleeding after raising the drug dose from 50 mg/day to 100 mg/day, and whose bleeding regressed after discontinuation of sertraline, and we think that bleeding is due to sertraline.

Case Report

A 32-year-old housewife with two married children applied to our psychiatry outpatient clinic with complaints such as reluctance, loss of appetite, lack of enthusiasm, restlessness, and not enjoying life for the last 3 months. A psychiatric examination showed that her temperament was depressed and that she did not have a psychotic feature in her thought content. She didn't have a history of mental or physical illness, allergies, drug use on her resume. There was no history of mental illness in her family history. The Hamilton Depression scale applied to the patient resulted in 27 points. As a result, a diagnosis of major depression was made and sertraline 50 mg/day was started. The dose of sertraline was increased to 100 mg/day due to partial regression in her depressive complaints at the control three weeks later. When the history of the patient, who applied to our outpatient clinic again with the complaint of intense menstrual bleeding 3 weeks later, was questioned, it was learned that she presented to the obstetric and gynaecology clinic due to the excessive amount of bleeding that started ten days after her last menstruation, and no physical cause was found as a result of the examination and laboratory examinations. She was redirected to our outpatient clinic because it was thought to be due to sertraline use only. Blood tests were found within normal limits. In the laboratory examination; white blood cell: 5,750 cells/mm³ (normal), red blood cell: 4,200,000 cells/mm³ (normal), platelets: 220,000 cells/mm³ (normal), prothrombin time: 11 seconds (normal), activated partial thromboplastin time: 29 seconds (normal), bleeding time: 4 minutes (normal), clotting time: 4 minutes (normal). There was no history of hematological disease in the patient's medical history and family history. It was recommended to discontinue sertraline due to the lack of features in blood tests



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Sevda Bağ MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 26.01.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 25.03.2020

Phone: +90 505 384 25 29 E-mail: sevdabag@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8041-3611 Cite this article as/Attf: Bağ S. Menometrorrhagia Due to Sertraline Treatment A Case Report. istanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 12-13.

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. © Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. suggestive of hematological disease and its onset after drug use. The patient's menstrual bleeding stopped three days later. It was learned that he had normal menstrual bleeding one month later. However, as the patient's depressive complaints increased, bupropion 150 mg/day was started. During her follow-up, her depressive complaints regressed. Off-cycle menstrual bleeding was not observed. Written consent was obtained from the patient.

Discussion

Excessive amount of menstrual bleeding before menstrual period in approximately the 3rd week of the use of sertalin without any other hematological reason, the patient's not using any other medication other than the certalin and the complaints after drug withdrawal disappear and since it was confirmed by the obstetrician, this was thought to be a side effect of drug use.

Although hematological side effects related to SSRI are quite rare, case reports are available in the literature on this subject. Hematological side effects associated with SSRI use are most commonly found in Australian drug side effect reports when examining the literature (4).

The most common hematological side effects are petechiae, purpura, ecchymosis and epistaxis. In addition to superficial bleeding, gastrointestinal bleeding and intracranial bleeding are also seen (5). In a case presented by Evans et al. (6) (1991), it was suggested that the impairment in platelet functions and prolonged bleeding time of a patient who used fluoxetine and died after a subdural hematoma may be related to fluoxetine use. Many hypotheses have been put forward and many studies have been made to explain the mechanism by which SSRIs cause bleeding disorders. Platelets contain a transporter similar to the serotonin reuptake transporter found in presynaptic nerve endings. Similar to their effect on presynaptic nerve endings, SSRI's inhibit serotonin reuptake transporter in platelets, reducing or depleting the serotonin reserves of platelets. Since the presence of serotonin is necessary for platelet clustering and hemostasis function, the activity of platelet aggregation and hemostasis is also reduced as a result of decreased or depletion of the amount of serotonin (7). In our case, there were no signs of ecchymosis or superficial bleeding.

When the literature is reviewed, it is seen that there is abnormal vaginal bleeding due to antidepressants in a small number of cases (8). There is no case in the literature about the effect of using sertalin to cause heavy bleeding, except when it increases the amount of menstrual bleeding. However, in one study, it was found that the increase in serotonin activity in the central nervous system after SSRI treatment increased prolactin level by stimulation of dopamine inhibition and prolactin releasing factors; and it has been reported that the probable cause of heavy breakthrough bleeding may be that it increases the levels of luteinizing hormone, prolactin, estradiol, progesterone and inhibits gonadal steroid metabolism (9). In our case, data could not be obtained because these hormone levels could not be looked at.

In our case, as a result of menometroragia that develops due to the use of sertraline, serotonin was discontinued and replaced by bupropion. Bupropion was recommended as SSRI without bleeding side effects when examining the literature (10) but in a meta-analysis, 3,981 studies were examined and no significant difference was found between SSRIs in terms of bleeding risk (11). However, in our case, vaginal bleeding did not recur with bupropion.

As a result, SSRI and sertraline increase the risk of bleeding. Sertraline and other SSRIs inhibit serotonin reuptake into platelets, affecting normal platelet clustering, which can result in bleeding, purpura, petechiae, ecchymosis. It is believed that this effect depends on the dose of the drug (12). Therefore, in cases where high doses are required, possible hematological side effects should be considered. We recommend that it be used more carefully in the selection of antidepressants in patients with low platelet count and/or suspected platelet dysfunction.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Written consent was obtained from the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Bottlender R, Dobmeier P, Möller HJ. The effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in blood coagulation. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 1998; 66: 32-5.
- 2. Andrade C, Sharma E. Serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk of abnormal bleeding. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2016; 39: 413-26.
- 3. Cinar O, Cevik E, Kilic E, Kesim ME, Ak M. Ecchymosis due to sertraline use: a case report. Klinik Psikofarmakol Bülteni 2010; 20: 321-3.
- Mathew T, Desmond P, Isaacs D. Bruising and bleeding with SSRI. Aust Adv Drug React Bull 1998; 17: 10-2.
- 5. Ay R. Ecchymosis associated with the use of paroxetine: a case report. J Clin Psy 2017; 20: 243-6.
- Evans TG, Buys SS, Rodgers GM. Acquired abnormalities of platelet function (letter). N Engl J Med 1991; 324: 1671.
- Hallbäck I, Hägg S, Eriksson AC, Whiss PA. Invitro effects of serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors on human platelet adhesion and coagulation. Pharmacol Rep 2012; 64: 979-83.
- Linnebur SA, Saseen JJ, Pace WD. Venlafaxine-associated vaginal bleeding. Pharmacotherapy J Hum Pharmacol Drug Ther 2002; 22: 652-5.
- De Abajo FJ. Effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors on platelet function: mechanisms, clinical outcomes and implications for use in elderly patients. Drugs Aging 2011; 28: 345-67.
- Na KS, Jung HY, Cho SJ, Cho SE. Can we recommend mirtazapine and bupropion for patients at risk for bleeding?: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Affect Disord 2018; 225: 221-6.
- Kharofa J, Sekar P, Haverbusch M, Moomaw C, Flaherty M, Kissela B, et al. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and risk of hemorrhagic stroke. Stroke 2007; 38: 3049-51.
- 12. Shahrbabki ME, Shahrbabaki AE. Sertraline-related bleeding tendency: could it be dose-dependent? Iran J Psychiatry Behav Sci 2014; 8: 81-3.

Obesity Treatment Can Also Cure Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Case Report

Tip 2 Diabetes Mellitusu Olan Obezite Hastasında Obezite Tedavisi Diyabetide Tedavi Edebilir: Bir Olgu Örneği

D Feray Akbaş, D Hanife Usta Atmaca

University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Obesity is a leading risk factor for type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM). Lifestyle modification should be the first step of diabetes treatment regardless of the medications prescribed upon diagnosis. An obese patient who was diagnosed with type 2 DM during visit at his obesity outpatient clinic was prescribed medication and lifestyle modification. The patient achieved remission of diabetes after losing 25% of weight during the follow-up period. This case emphasises the importance of lifestyle modification in diabetes treatment.

Keywords: Obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, lifestyle modification

ÖΖ

Obezite, tip 2 diabetes mellitus (DM) için önde gelen risk faktörüdür. Tanı konduğunda hastaya önerilen medikal diyabet tedavisi ne olursa olsun, yaşam tarzı değişikliği tedavinin birinci basamağını oluşturmalıdır. Burada; obezite polikliniğine başvurusunda tip 2 DM tanısı konan, yaşam tarzı değişikliği ve ilaç tedavisi başlanıp %25 kilo kaybı sonrasında ilaçsız izlemde diyabet kliniği bulunmayan bir olgu ele alınarak, diyabet tedavisinde yaşam tarzı değişikliğinin öneminin bir kez daha vurgulanması amaçlanmıştır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Obezite, tip 2 diabetes mellitus, yaşam tarzı değişikliği

Introduction

Obesity is the leading risk factor for type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM). Regardless of the medical diabetes treatment suggested to the patient when diagnosed, lifestyle change should be the first step of treatment. In this study, it is aimed to emphasize once again the importance of lifestyle change in the treatment of diabetes by addressing a case who was diagnosed with type 2 DM at the admission to the obesity outpatient clinic, who did not have a diabetes clinic in drug-free follow-up after a 25% weight loss with lifestyle change and medication.

Case Report

A 34-year-old male patient applied to the obesity outpatient clinic for the first time in February 2016. The patient was a high school graduate, working in the textile industry, and was married. His childhood weight was normal; she started to gain weight after marriage and reached his highest weight in the last 5 years. He applied to our outpatient clinic because he was at the highest weight in his life and started to have difficulty in movements. His medical history was unremarkable except for tonsillectomy operation. He did not have a diagnosis or a history of drug use that could cause weight gain. He had never attempted to lose weight before. In his family history, there was obesity and type 2 DM in the mother. He did not smoke or drink alcohol.

Eating habits: He ate 3 main meals a day, but his biggest meal was dinner. He continued to eat every night at home until he fell asleep, and during daylight hours at work, between meals, and these were usually simple carbohydrates (such as wafers, sweets, cakes, biscuits). There were no signs of eating disorders.

Physical activity habits: He was not doing exercises. He was using public transport on his way to work and walked between transport points and home/work.



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Feray Akbaş MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 13.01.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 11.04.2020

Phone: +90 532 621 19 22 E-mail: atlibatur@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-5091-9160

Cite this article as/Atıf: Akbaş F, Usta Atmaca H. Obesity Treatment Can Also Cure Type 2 Diabetes: A Case Report. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 14-16.

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. Psychological status: There were no signs of depression or mood disorder.

Motivational status: The patient wanted to voluntarily participate in a weight loss program and lose weight only for his health, he was motivated.

Physical examination: Height: 174 cm, weight: 112 kg, body mass index (BMI): 37 kg/m², waist circumference: 116 cm, hip circumference: 120 cm. Other physical examination findings were normal except arterial blood pressure with 140/100 mmHg.

Hemogram, routine biochemistry, hemoglobinA1c (HbA1c), 2nd hour postprandial blood glucose, hormone profile, then 1 mg dexamethasone suppression test, spot urine protein/creatinine were checked, electrocardiography, echocardiography, 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring and abdominal ultrasonography were performed.

After the results were evaluated, he was diagnosed with type 2 DM, hypertension (HT) and hyperlipidemia (HL) according to current guidelines (1-3). Drug treatment was started with metformin and olmesartan/thiazide. The patient refused to receive HL therapy. Simultaneously, the patient was given medical nutrition therapy, exercise prescription, and training for behavior change.

Patient made great adjustment to recommendations and came to the doctor and dietician controls regularly. He dropped from 112 kg to 84 kg, giving a total of 28 kg in the 3-year follow-up. When he had 2nd degree obesity, BMI decreased to 28 kg/m² and this switched him to overweight group (Table 1). HbA1c was 6.2 in May 2016 and was 5.4 in November 2016, and blood pressure was low. Drug treatments were gradually discontinued when the patient was being monitored. With continued lifestyle change, there was no increase in blood sugar (BS), A1c and blood pressure (Table 2). Scheduled last application date: July 2019 and the patient is still in the control program.

Informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Discussion

Obesity is the main determinant of poor metabolic control in type 2 diabetes. Therefore, prevention and treatment of obesity is of great importance in the management of patients with type 2 diabetes. (4)

5-10% weight loss can lower HbA1c levels, improve cardiovascular risk factors, reduce the use of antihyperglycemic, antihypertensive and lipid-lowering drugs within 1 year, and bring type 2 diabetes into remission within the first 5 years (5,6).

| Table 2. Metabolic changes | | | | |
|----------------------------|-------------------|--------------|--|--|
| Parameter | First application | Last control | | |
| FBS (mg/dL) | 126 | 79 | | |
| HbA1c (%) | 7.5 | 5.2 | | |
| TG (mg/dL) | 208 | 67 | | |
| LDL (mg/dL) | 136 | 92 | | |
| HDL (mg/dL) | 31 | 47 | | |
| Insulin (iu/mL) | 43.93 | 4.33 | | |
| GGT (mg/dL) | 59 | 33 | | |

FBS: Fasting blood sugar, HbA1c: hemoglobinA1c, TG: triglyceride, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HDL: high-density lipoprotein, GGT: gamma-glutamyl transferase

Many studies have shown that the combination of energy-restricted diets and exercise has an additive effect on weight loss. The beneficial metabolic effects of the Mediterranean diet have been identified and may delay the need for antihyperglycemic drug therapy in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients (5,6).

In our patient, after weight loss, the amount of medication used for diabetes and HT was first reduced and then stopped without the need for medication. BS and blood pressure arterial values were normal in follow-up without medication; diabetes and HT went into remission with the continuation of lifestyle changes.

Medical nutrition therapy, physical activity and behavior change constitute the basis of obesity treatment. The first step of type 2 DM treatment is to make these changes and to provide weight loss in patients with obesity/overweight. Permanent lifestyle change is the greatest success in both diabetes and obesity treatment.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - F.A.; Concept - F.A.; Design - F.A.; Data Collection or Processing - F.A., H.U.A.; Analysis or Interpretation - F.A., H.U.A.; Literature Search - F.A., H.U.A.; Writing - F.A., H.U.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

| Table 1. Weight controls of the patient | | | | | | | | |
|---|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Date | 02.2016 | 05.2016 | 8.2016 | 11.2016 | 01.2017 | 02.2017 | 04.2017 | 06.2017 |
| Weight (kg) | 112 | 96 | 91 | 88 | 90 | 90 | 91 | 91 |
| Date | 07.2017 | 10.2017 | 12.2017 | 02.2018 | 05.2018 | 8.2018 | 01.2019 | 07.2019 |
| Weight (kg) | 90 | 94 | 86 | 82 | 82 | 85 | 84 | 84 |

References

- Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care 1997; 20: 1183-97.
- Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Rosei EA, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Society of Hypertension (ESH). Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 3021-104.
- 3. Jellinger PS, Smith DA, Mehta AE, Ganda O, Handelsman Y, Rodbard HW, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists' Guidelines for Management of Dyslipidemia and Prevention of Atherosclerosis: executive summary. Endocr Pract 2012; 18: 269-93.
- Sonmez A, Yumuk V, Haymana C, Demirci I, Barcin C, Kıyıcı S, et al. Impact of Obesity on the Metabolic Control of Type 2 Diabetes: Results of the Turkish Nationwide Survey of Glycemic and Other Metabolic Parameters of Patients with Diabetes Mellitus (TEMD Obesity Study). Obes Facts 2019; 12: 167-78.
- Leitner DR, Frühbeck G, Yumuk V, Schindler K, Micic D, Woodward E, et al. Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes: Two Diseases with a Need for Combined Treatment Strategies - EASO Can Lead the Way. Obes Facts 2017; 10: 483-92.
- Dambha-Miller H, Day AJ, Strelitz J, Irving G, Griffin SJ. Behaviour change, weight loss and remission of Type 2 diabetes: a community-based prospective cohort study. Diabet Med 2020; 37: 681-8.

A Rare Disease in the Differential Diagnosis of Chylothorax: Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia

Şilotoraks Ayırıcı Tanısında Nadir Bir Hastalık: Waldenström Makroglobulinemisi

🕲 İstemi Serin¹, 🕲 Mehmet Hilmi Doğu¹, 🕲 Hasan Göze¹, 🕲 Harun Muğlu², 🕲 Osman Yokuş¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bağcılar Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia is a disease in the B lymphoproliferative diseases group with immunoglobin M monoclonality and may present with different clinical manifestations. A 52-year-old male patient presented with complaints of weight loss and shortness of breath. Computed tomography (CT) results revealed a mass with a malignant soft tissue density in the abdomen. In the thoracic images, free fluid of up to 130 mm was found between the pleural leaves on both sides. His biopsies from the abdominal mass and bone marrow were reported to be compatible with a lymphoplasmocytic lymphoma in the presence of plasmoid differentiation B cell neoplasia and a Waldenström clinic. Cyclophosphamide -adriamycin -vincristine -prednisolone regimen was used in the first cycle chemotherapy. Positron emission tomography/ CT imaging, which was performed on the 15th day after the second cycle of chemotherapy, showed that the patient's tumour was stable in size, but metabolic partial regression was observed. Bortezomib-dexamethasone-rituximab regimen was planned because of the resistant chylothorax. The patient had a dramatic clinical response and the chylothorax regressed completely after the first cure treatment. Chylothorax is a rare clinical presentation with chyle in the pleural area. It has traumatic and non-traumatic causes. Non-traumatic causes are most frequently seen due to malignancies. Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia has a very rare incidence, and the clinical association between Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia and chylothorax is very interesting. Standard treatment regimens vary, but the response to treatment also varies. Our case was resistant to the first line treatment, but had a dramatic response to the bortezomib and rituximab-based treatment.

Keywords: Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia, chylothorax, bortezomib, hyperviscosity

ÖΖ

Waldenström makroglobulinemisi, immünoglobulin M monoklonalitesi gösteren B lenfoproliferatif hastalıklar grubunda bulunan bir malignitedir ve farklı klinik belirtilerle ortaya çıkabilir. Elli iki yaşında erkek hasta, kilo kaybı ve nefes darlığı yakınmalarıyla kliniğimize başvurdu. Bilgisayarlı tomografi (BT) ile yapılan görüntülemelerinde; batında geniş yer kaplayan malign görünümlü bir kitle tespit edilirken, toraks görüntülerinde, bilateral plevral yapraklar arasında 130 mm'ye varan serbest sıvı saptandı. Abdominal kitle ve kemik iliğinden alınan biyopsilerinin, plazmoid farklılaşma gösteren B hücre neoplazisi ve Waldenström kliniği ile birlikte değerlendirildiğinde lenfoplazmositik lenfoma ile uyumlu olduğu bildirildi. İlk kürde siklofosfamid -adriamisin-vinkristin -prednizolon rejimi tercih edildi. İkinci siklus kemoterapi sonrasındaki 15. günde yapılan pozitron emisyon tomogrofisi/ BT görüntülemesinde, hastanın tümör boyutu stabil iken metabolik olarak parsiyal regresyon gözlendi. Dirençli silotoraks kliniği nedeniyle bortezomib-deksametazon-rituksimab rejimi planlandı. İkinci seri bu tedavi ile dramatik klinik yanıt elde edildi ve ilk tedavi sonrası şilotoraks tamamen geriledi. Şilotoraks, plevra yaprakları arasında şilöz materyalin birikimi ile görülen nadir bir klinik tablodur. Travmatik ve travmatik olmayan nedenleri vardır. Travmatik olmayan nedenleri en sık malignitelerin oluşturduğunu görmekteyiz. İki ayrı nadir antite olarak, şilotoraks ve Waldenström makroglobulinemisinin görülmesi oldukça ilgi çekicidir. Standart tedavi rejimleri değiştiği gibi, alınan yanıtların da farklı olduğu gözlenmektedir. Olgumuzda birinci basamak tedaviye direnç gözlenmiş olup, bortezomib ve rituksimab bazlı tedaviden ise dramatik yanıt alındı.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Waldenström makroglobulinemisi, şilotoraks, bortezomib, hiperviskozite



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: İstemi Serin MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 28.04.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 04.05.2020

Phone: +90 532 317 23 93 E-mail: serinistemi@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/000-0003-1855-774X

Cite this article as/Atıf: Serin İ, Doğu MH, Göze H, Muğlu H, Yokuş O. A Rare Disease in the Differential Diagnosis of Chylothorax: Waldenström's Macroglobulinaemia. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 17-19.

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.

Introduction

Chylothorax is the accumulation of chyle in the pleural area. While short and medium chain fatty acids are converted to free fatty acids by intestinal lipases and absorbed into the portal circulation, larger molecules are absorbed into the thoracic duct system in the form of chylomicrons together with the lower limb lymphatic drainage. Traumatic or non-traumatic damage of this lymphatic system results in the accumulation of chylous material in the pleural cavity. Traumatic damage is most frequently caused by surgery, while non-traumatic damage is most frequently caused by malignancies (1).

Waldenström's macroglobulinemia is a disease in the B lymphoproliferative diseases group with immunoglobin M (lgM) monoclonality and the production of IgM heavy chain and light chain (2). The clinical presentation of the disease varies, including fever, weight loss-like constitutional symptoms, symptomatic anaemia, thrombocytopenia, amyloidosis and related organ involvement symptoms, hyperviscosity, lymphadenopathy, organomegaly, etc, it may present with different clinical manifestations. The cure expectancy for Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia is still not expectable (2). In this case report, we present a patient with a clinic of Waldenström macroglobulinaemia who presented with an aggressive lymphoblastic lymphoma associated with an aggressive and refractory clinic of a chylothorax.

Case Report

A 52-year-old male patient applied to the general surgery outpatient clinic in June 2019 with complaints of weight loss and shortness of breath. Computed tomography (CT) results revealed a mass with a malignant soft tissue density, extending from the thoracic level along the paravertebral area to the inferior area, surrounding the aorta and its branches in the retroperitoneum and also surrounding the iliac arteries. In the upper abdomen, a mass lesion extending towards the portal hilar area and along the superior mesenteric artery axis was extended to the midline of the abdomen. In the thoracic images, a free fluid of up to 130 mm was found between the pleural leaves on both sides, and a view of atelectasis was observed at the level of the adjacent lower lobe segment.



Figure 1. Images of lymph node and bone marrow biopsy sections with hematoxylin-eosin and CD20 with immunochemistry

The patient was referred to the haematology clinic after a biopsy of the abdominal mass and bone marrow was performed. Biopsy from the mass was reported to be compatible with a lymphoplasmocytic lymphoma in the presence of plasmoid differentiation B cell neoplasia and Waldenström clinic. Bone marrow biopsy showed a low-grade CD20 (+) lymphoid infiltration in the bone marrow and was reported to be in favour of Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia involvement (Figure 1). In addition to anaemia and the sedimentation rate, the serum IgM level was 11 g/L and the free kappa level was 137 mg/L. Furthermore, total protein was 9.2 g/dL, albumin was 3.5 g/dL, globulin was measured as 5.7 g/dL and aBeta 2 microglobulin was 8.8 mg/L. Bilateral evacuating thoracentesis was performed because of the bilateral massive pleural effusion causing respiratory distress and desaturation (Figure 2). A catheter was inserted and the pleural effusion was evaluated to be compatible with a chylothorax (Figure 3). A nephrostomy catheter was inserted because of bilateral grade 3 hydronephrosis, predominantly on the left side due to compression from the abdominal mass.

Cyclophosphamide -adriamycin -vincristine -prednisolone (CHOP) regimen (cvclophosphamide 750 mg/m²/day intravenous (iv). 1st day. adriamycin 50 mg/m²/day iv.1st day, vincristine 1.4 mg/m² /day iv. 1st day (maximum 2 mg) prednisolone 100 mg/day iv (days 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) was used in the first cycle. Positron emission tomography (PET)/CT imaging, which was performed on the 15th day after the second cycle of chemotherapy, showed that the patient's tumour was stable in size, but metabolic partial regression was observed. Bortezomib-dexamethasone-rituximab (BDR) regimen (bortezomib 1.3 mg/m², dexamethasone 40 mg iv day 1, 4, 8 and 11; rituximab 375 mg/m² iv day 11) was planned because of the therapy-resistant chylothorax originating from the thoracic tube. His mass was the only metabolic responsible and did not diminish in size. The patient had a dramatic clinical response with a complete regression of the chylothorax after the first cure treatment. Talc plorodesis was performed by pulling the chest tube, and the nephrostomy catheter was also removed. The patient was discharged to continue treatment as an outpatient. A written informed consent was obtained from our patient.



Figure 2. Computed tomography image during diagnosis: bilateral chylothorax



Figure 3. The appearance of chylothorax after a diagnostic percutaneous thoracic puncture

Discussion

Chylothorax with chyle in pleural area is a rare clinical presentation. It is also a rare cause of pleural effusion with chyle leakage into the pleural space. It has both traumatic and non-traumatic causes. Among surgical factors, thoracic surgical procedures are the most common traumatic factors (3,4). Non-traumatic causes are most frequently seen due to malignancies. Given that Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia also has a very rare incidence with 0.38/100,000 (5), the clinical association between Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia and chylothorax is very interesting.

The second important point to highlight in our case is the response to the preferred treatment regimen. For this case with Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia, CHOP therapy was chosen as the preferred treatment since it does not contain rituximab, due to the risk of developing hyperviscosity in line with the recommendations of current treatment guidelines, followed by rituximab CHOP in the second cure. Due to the persistence of the pleural effusion and chylothorax, the patient was started on a BDR chemotherapy regimen recommended as the second-line chemotherapy treatment (6-8). We had a good clinical response with the BDR regimen, which is consistent with the literature. In the literature, similar rare cases presenting with chylothorax have been. In these case reports, it is noted that regimens based on bortezomib and its combinations are recommended. Chylothorax is a very rare clinical presentation, and traumatic factors play a major role in its aetiology. Although malignancies lead to nontraumatic causes, Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia is a rare cause. Standard treatment regimens vary, and responses to treatment also vary. Our case was resistant to the first line treatment, but showed a good clinical response with a bortezomib and rituximab-based treatment.

Ethics

Informed Consent: A written informed consent was obtained from our patient.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - İ.S., M.H.D., H.G., H.M., O.Y.; Design - İ.S., M.H.D., H.G., H.M.; Data Collection or Processing - İ.S., H.M.; Analysis or Interpretation - İ.S.; Literature Search - İ.S., H.M.; Writing -İ.S., M.H.D., H.G., H.M., O.Y.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Schild HH, Pieper C. Chylothorax: Current Therapeutic Options. Zentralbl Chir 2019; 144: S24-30.
- 2. Gertz MA. Waldenström macroglobulinemia: 2019 update on diagnosis, risk stratification, and management. Am J Hematol 2019; 94: 266-76.
- Otoupalova E, Meka SG, Dogra S, Dalal B. Recurrent chylothorax: a clinical mystery. BMJ Case Rep 2017; bcr-2017-220750.
- 4. McGrath EE, Blades Z, Anderson PB. Chylothorax: aetiology, diagnosis and therapeutic options. Respir Med 2010; 104: 1-8.
- Rodriguez Botero N, Zerrate Misas A, Galvez Cardenas KM, Ramirez Quintero JD. Chylothorax as an Initial Manifestation of Waldenström macroglobulinemia. Cureus 2020; 12: e7566.
- Kastritis E, Leblond V, Dimopoulos MA, Kimby E, Staber P, Kersten MJ, et al. Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2018; 29(Suppl 4): iv41-50.
- Dimopoulos MA, García-Sanz R, Gavriatopoulou M, Morel P, Kyrtsonis MC, Michalis E, et al. Primary therapy of Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) with weekly bortezomib, low-dose dexamethasone, and rituximab (BDR): long-term results of a phase 2 study of the European Myeloma Network (EMN). Blood 2013; 122: 3276-82.
- Poisson J, Aregui A, Darnige L, Maley K, Gisselbrecht M. Association of chylothorax and direct pleura involvement in a case of Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia. Age Ageing 2014; 43: 581-3.

CADASIL Syndrome Presenting as Adjustment Disorder

Uyum Bozukluğu Tablosu ile Prezente Olan CADASIL Sendromu Olgusu

● Sevda Bağ¹, ● Pelin Özkara², ● Evrim Erten²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Bakırköy Prof. Dr. Mazhar Osman Psychiatry Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL), usually referred to as CADASIL, is an inherited autosomal dominant condition that can cause stroke, dementia and other neurological impairments. Clinically, it presents most frequently as neurogical disturbances, although psychiatric symptoms may also be seen in about 20%-41% of cases. Psychiatric disturbances encountered most often in CADASIL include mood and adjustment disorders, particularly depression.

In this case report, we highlight a patient with CADASIL syndrome, who had adjustment disorder with neurological signs appearing only later, leading to diagnosis of CADASIL. Treatment of the condition and patient follow-up are also discussed below.

Keywords: CADASIL, adjustment disorder, depression

Introduction

Autosomal dominant cerebral arteriopathy and a small vascular disease. leading to subcortical infarction and leukoencephalopathy cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy (CADASIL) is the most common familial cause of stroke and vascular dementia that develops due to small vessels in adults (1). Clinically; it is characterized by migraine, lacunar stroke or transient ischemic attack, cognitive disorders and psychiatric disorders (2). CADASIL is caused by a mutation in the NOTCH3 gene located on the 19th chromosome (3). Although CADASIL is clinically observed in the fourth and fifth decade, migraine attacks with aura are observed in the second and third decade. It has also been suggested that sporadic hemiplegic migraine cases that occur without brain imaging findings may be an initial sign of CADASIL (4). Cognitive impairments seen in CADASIL occur especially in executive functions and attention deficit (5). Widespread hyperintense areas in the white matter are observed in T2-weighted magnetic resonance (MR) imaging of 90% of the patients. The incidence

ÖΖ

Subkortikal enfarkt ve lökoensefalopati ile giden otozomal dominant serebral arteriyopati (CADASIL) yetişkinlerde inme ve vasküler demansın en sık ailesel nedenidir. CADASIL tanısı almış hastalarda nörolojik bozukluklar daha ön planda olsalar da psikiyatrik bozukluklara rastlanma oranı %20-%41 arasında değişmektedir. Duygudurum bozuklukları ve uyum bozuklukları en sık eşlik eden psikiyatrik bozukluklardır. Bu yazıda depresif mizaçlı uyum bozukluğu tanısı ile yatışı yapılan hastada ortaya çıkan nadir rastlanan bir nörolojik hastalık olan CADASIL olgusu ve tedavi ve izlem süreci tartışılacaktır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: CADASIL, uyum bozukluğu, depresyon

of hyperintense areas increases dramatically with advancing age (6). In our case, the inability to access T2-weighted MR images constituted the limitation of our article. Pathological examinations showed that it is a non-atherosclerotic disease that does not contain amyloid and affects the walls of small arteries (7). The pathogonomic finding for CADASIL is the demonstration of granular osmophilic material in the tunica media base of the cerebral artery under an electron microscope (8). Although neurological disorders are at the forefront in patients diagnosed with CADASIL, the incidence of psychiatric disorders ranges from 20% to 41%, and psychiatric findings constitute one of the cardinal characteristics of the disease. The most common of these are mood disorders and adjustment disorders with a rate of 9-41%. A smaller proportion are also accompanied by psychotic symptoms (9). In this article, a CADASIL case with depressive temperament adjustment disorder will be presented and psychiatric symptoms that can be observed in a rare neurological disease, as well as the diagnosis, treatment and follow-up process will be discussed.



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Sevda Bağ MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Psychiatry, İstanbul, Turkey

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 20.12.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 15.06.2020

Phone: +90 505 384 25 29 E-mail: sevdabag@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8041-3611

Cite this article as/Atıf: Bağ S, Özkara P, Erten E. CADASIL Syndrome Presenting as Adjustment Disorder. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 20-22.

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.

Case Report

Forty-year-old, married, without children, fifth of seven siblings, female patient was admitted to the psychiatric training and research hospital inpatient clinic with complaints such as malaise, despair, suicidal thoughts, inability to leave the house, inability to do household chores that have continued for the last 3-4 months.

In his psychiatric evaluation, it was observed that the patient, who looked at her age and was respectful to the interviewer, was conscious and oriented, and her self-care was adequate and at her age. During the interview, affect was evaluated as tearful and her mood as dysphoric. Although the speed and amount of speech decreased, the patient, whose associations were regular, could turn towards the goal. In her thought content, there were themes of psychosocial stressors that developed due to the relationship of her husband with another person and the threat of the other party's family to her and her sisters. She didn't describe delusions or hallucinations. When the patient's life history was deepened, it was learned that she had been admitted to the outpatient clinic with existing complaints a few months ago and was taking sertraline 100 mg/day and mirtazapine 15 mg/day. The patient was diagnosed with depressive temperament adjustment disorder, as it was observed that the events she experienced had affected her life for the last few months, she remained between her family and her marriage due to the events, her problems increased with the thought of separation from her spouse and her functionality decreased significantly, these depressive symptoms did not occur on the basis of a personality pathology and did not result from the grief process.

In the history of the patient, it was learned that there were headache attacks that started since the age of 18 and gradually increased, preceded by nausea and flies, and that she could not write intermittently during these attacks, intermittent speech, occasional gazing on and staring. In her family history, her mother was treated for migraine-type headache with aura, and her uncle had numbness in the tongue, speech disorder, and migraine-type headache; one of her siblings occasionally complained of not being able to speak, another sibling 4-5 years ago numbness in the face, weakness in the hands; in the other sibling, it was learned that complaints such as forgetfulness, loss of strength in the arm, numbness in the lips and inability to speak were recovered from time to time.

As a result of neurology consultation examination, brain MR imaging report performed in different centers, hyperintensities in cerebral hemispheres; on the observation of hyperintense signal changes in the temporal lobes, subcortical and periventricular white matter areas, external capsules, adjacencies of the temporal, occipital and frontal horns of the lateral ventricle, and in a patchy form with diffuse confluency in the corona radiata, periventricular and subcortical white matter areas at the centrum semiovale level, it was stated that the diagnosis of CADASIL was considered. We think that the limitation of our article is that we could not access T2 flair images of our case because they were performed at a different center (Figure 1). In addition, our patient was subjected to a mini mental status examination test and it was evaluated as a mild cognitive impairment with a 24/30 result. It was learned that the diagnosis of CADASIL was confirmed by detecting *NOTCH3* gene mutation in genetic tests. After the diagnosis of CADASIL was made, it was learned that the gene analysis was performed in all 4 siblings, and the other siblings had *NOTCH3* gene mutation and the other two siblings did not admit to the hospital voluntarily.

The patient was followed up in our inpatient clinic. The patient, who was clarified to be CADASIL after neurological consultation, was referred to the neurology outpatient clinic after the completion of her acute psychiatric treatment. Our patient still continues to follow up regularly and is in remission.

Informed consent was obtained from the patient for a case report.

Discussion

CADASIL is an extremely rare genetic disease that most commonly occurs as transient ischemic attacks. It has been reported that cognitive impairment is seen in 48% of CADASIL cases, dementia seen in 28% of cases is accompanied by 90% gait disturbances, 86% urinary insufficiency, and 52% pseudolbulbar palsy. Eighty seven percent of migraines seen in 38% of cases are migraine with aura, but migraine without aura can also be accompanied. In our case, a slight level of cognitive impairment was detected in a psychometric examination. In the family history of our case, migraine type headache present in all sisters and grandmother is consistent with CADASIL, an autosomal dominant cerebral arteriopathy. The diagnosis of CADASIL is made clinically, at a relatively young age, in the presence of lacunar infarcts that develop in the absence of any risk factors such as hypertension or arteriosclerosis, and when other members of the family have a similar situation (10). CADASIL is often accompanied by psychiatric disorders. In a study conducted by Peters et al. (11) with 80 CADASIL patients, the rate of major depression was found to be 10% (11). Bipolar mood disorder (12), psychotic disorders (13) accompanying CADASIL are included in the literature (Table 1). In our case, depressive temperament adaptation disorder is at the forefront.

In our case, the emergence of symptoms due to the marital problems he experienced in the last months and the partial benefit from the treatment made us think that she could not cope with the stress present in the diagnosis rather than the mood disorder and that the problems of adaptation were more prominent.



Figure 1. Cranial magnetic resonance image

| Table 1. Psychiatric tables accompanying CADASIL | | | | |
|--|-----------------------|---------------------------|--|--|
| | Number of patients | Psychiatric disorder | | |
| Peters et al. (11) (2005) | 80 | Major depression (10%) | | |
| Dichgans et al. (14) (1998) | 102 | Adjustment disorder (23%) | | |
| Mishra et al. (13) (2018) | Case report | Psychosis | | |
| Kesebir et al. (12) (2010) | Case report | Bipolar disorder | | |

In the study of Dichgans et al. (14), 102 CADASIL patients were followed and adjustment disorder was found in 24. We think that the reason for the adjustment disorder that developed in our case was the difficulty in coping with the stress in her life due to this disease. In one study, it was shown that the depressive complaints accompanying CADASIL negatively affect the quality of life. Quality of life is also very low in our case (15).

In conclusion, accompanying headaches in patients presenting with adjustment disorder and a similar history in family members should bring to mind the possibility of CADASIL, which is rarely encountered, and it is recommended to follow the disease with neurological follow-up and treatment and additional supportive treatments for the crisis given to the patient.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from the patient for a case report.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Concept - P.Ö.; Design - S.B.; Data Collection or Processing - S.B.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.E.; Literature Search - P.Ö.; Writing - S.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

1. Toni-Uebari TK. Cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leucoencephalopathy (CADASIL): a rare cause of dementia. Case Rep Child Meml Hosp Chic 2013; 2013: bcr2012007285.

- 2. Chabriat Hugues, Joutel A, Dichgans M, Tournier-Lasserve E, Bousser MG. "Cadasil." Lancet Neurol 2009; 8: 643-53.
- Joutel A, Corpechot C, Ducros A, Vahedi K, Chabriat H, Mouton P, et al. Notch3 mutations in CADASIL, a hereditary adult-onset condition causing stroke and dementia. Nature 1996; 383: 707-10.
- Monteiro C, Barros J, Taipa R, Pereira-Monteiro J. Sporadic hemiplegic migraine as the initial manifestation of Cadasil. Cephalalgia 2012; 32: 255-7.
- Dominquez-Sanchez FJ, Lasa-Aristu A, Gomi-Imizcoz M. Intelligence impairment, personality and psychopathology disturbances in a familiy affected with Cadasil. Span J Psychol 2011; 14: 936-43.
- Benisty S, Reyes S, Godin O, Herve D, Zieren N, Jouvent E, et al. White matter lesions without lacuner infarcts in Cadasil. J Alzheimers Dis 2012; 29: 903-11.
- 7. Uchino M. The pathomechanism and treatment of CADASIL. Rinsho Shinkeigaku 2011; 51: 945-8.
- Chabriat H, Vahedi K, Bousser MG, İba-Zizen MT, Joutel A, Nibbio A, et al. Clinical spectrum of CADASIL: a study of seven families. Lancet 1995; 346: 934-9.
- 9. Valenti R, Poggesi A, Pescini F, Inzitari D, Pantoni L. Psychiatric disturbances in CADASIL: A brief review. Acta Neurol Scand 2008; 118: 291-5.
- 10. Desmond DW, Moroney JT, Lynch T, Chan S, Chin SS, Mohr JP. The natural history of CADASIL: a pooled analysis of previously published cases. Stroke 1999; 30: 1230-3.
- Peters N, Opherk C, Danek A, Ballard C, Herzog J, Dichgans M. The pattern of cognitive performance in CADASIL - a monogenic condition leading to subcortical ischemic vascular dementia. Am J Psychiatry 2005; 162: 2078-85.
- 12. Kesebir S, Koca EK, Kilicaslan EE. CADASIL Syndrome presenting with bipolar disorder. J Mood Disord 2010; 2: 115-8.
- Mishra DK, Kishore A, Niranjan V. CADASIL syndrome (cerebral autosomal dominant arteriopathy with subcortical infarcts and leukoencephalopathy) presenting as psychosis. Gen Psychiatr 2018; 31: e100017.
- 14. Dichgans M, Mayer M, Uttner I, Brüning R, Müller-Höcker J, Rungger G, et al. The phenotypic spectrum of CADASIL: clinical findings in 102 cases. Ann Neurol 1998; 44: 731-9.
- 15. Brookes RL, Willis TA, Patel B, Morris RG, Markus HS. Depressive symptoms as a predictor of quality of life in cerebral small vessel disease, acting independently of disability; a study in both sporadic small vessel disease and CADASIL. Int J Stroke 2013; 8: 510-7.

Fever of Unknown Origin: A Patient with Intermittent Idiopathic Fever for Three Years

Nedeni Bilinmeyen Ateş: Üç Yıldır Ateşi Olan Bir Hasta

● Esma Altunoğlu¹, ● Doğan Can Çelik¹, ● Sena Hekimoğlu¹, ● Enes Özsoy¹, ● Mehmet Hilmi Doğu²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Fever of unknown origin (FUO) is defined as a fever ≥38.3 °C on at least three occasions over a period of at least three weeks, with no obvious diagnosis despite one week of inpatient investigations. Over 200 infections, neoplasm and inflammatory diseases can lead to an FUO. The definition of FUO is difficult, even though more sophisticated diagnostic tools such as positron emitted tomography and many biochemical and serological assays have become routinely available. However, it is surprising that despite the improvement in diagnostic modalities, some FUO still remain undiagnosed. When the diagnosis of FUO was not defined, invasive tests such as biopsies may be useful. Bone marrow biopsy is an accepted method in FUO to uncover haematological malignancies and certain infections. We report a case of prolonged fever 4-5 times each year for 3 years which has presented FUO. She had bone morrow biopsy and was diagnosed with T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukaemia.

Keywords: Fever of unknown origin, bone morrow biopsy, leukemia

ÖΖ

Nedeni bilinmeyen ateş; ayaktan hastalarda en az üç hafta hastanede bir hafta süre ile tetkik edilmesine rağmen en az üç ölçümde ateşin ≥38,3 °C'nin üzerinde olduğu durum olarak tanımlanır. Enfeksiyonlar, maliniteler, enflamatuvar hastalıklar olmak uzere 200 üzerinde hastalık nedeni bilinmeyen ateşin nedeni olabilir. Pozitron yayınlayıcı tomografi ve birçok biyokimyasal, serolojik ilerlemis tanı metotlarının rutin olarak kullanılmasına rağmen nedeni bilinmeyen atesin tanısını koymak zordur. Nedeni bilinmeyen ateşin ilerlemiş tanı metotlarına rağmen tanısı konulamadığında biyopsi gibi invazif girişimler yapılır. Kemik iliği biyopsisi ile hemotolojik maliniteler ve bazı enfeksiyonların tanısı konulabilir. Son 3 vilda, senede 4-5 kez atesi olan bir nedeni bilinmeyen ates olgusunu sunuyoruz. Hastada hematolojik bir malinite; T-hücre büyük granüllü lenfatik lösemi tanısı kemik iliği bivopsisi ile konuldu.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Nedeni bilinmeyen ateş, kemik iliği biyopsisi, lösemi

Introduction

Fever of unknown origin (FUO) was first described by Petersdorf and Beeson (1) in 1961.

It was defined as a fever greater than 38.3 °C on several occasions, for a minimum duration of three weeks, without a diagnosis after intensive evaluation and diagnostic tests, and/or with an uncertain diagnosis after conducting investigations for one week in the hospital (2). This definition has been used to compare and contrast FUO in different eras, geographic locations and special patient populations (3). In addition, FUO was differentiated into four classes by Durak and Street (4) in 1991: classical FUO, nosocomial FUO, neutropenic FUO and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-associated FUO. Furthermore, they proposed the following definition of an FUO: a minimum diagnostic evaluation of three

outpatient visits or three days of in-hospital investigations. Nevertheless, FUO has been used by clinicians to describe febrile illnesses of variable durations.

There are approximately 200 described causes of FUO, which are broadly categorised into infections, rheumatic-inflammatory diseases (such as connective tissue diseases) and malignancies (2,5). Despite extensive work-up and diagnostic advances, up to 51% of cases remain undiagnosed (2,5,6). The diagnosis of patients with FUO was made by the history and examination findings and laboratory testing, including complete blood count, blood chemistries, blood and urine cultures, C-reactive protein, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, HIV antibody, antinuclear antibody (ANA) and chest X-ray. Sometimes, bone marrow biopsy (BMB) may be needed for the investigation of haematological malignancy or certain infections such as tuberculosis (7,8).



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Esma Altunoğlu MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul
 Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey
 Phone: +90 542 515 08 71 E-mail: esmaaltunoglu@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0908-1575
 Cite this article as/Atıf: Altunoğlu E, Çelik DC, Hekimoğlu S, Özsoy E, Doğu MH. Fever of Unknown Origin: A Patient with Intermittent Idiopathic Fever for Three Years. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 23-25.

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 17.09.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 06.08.2020

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. Here, we report the case of a 59-year-old female patient who had fever 3-4 times in each year for three years. We performed a BMB and her diagnosis was T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukaemia.

Case Report

The patient gave her informed consent.

A 59-year-old Caucasian woman with a recurrent history of chest infections was admitted to our clinic. She complained of worsening of fatigue, cough, chills and high-grade fever, which had been present for 2-3 weeks. Additionally, she had fever 3-4 times each year for three years. The complaints have been gradually increasing since last year. She was admitted to the hospital many times and treated with antibiotherapy and discharged. The patient did not report any other symptoms, including night sweats, weight loss and haemopthisis. She was not on any regular medication and had no history of exposure to ionising radiations or toxic chemicals.

She had been operated for chronic otitis media with effusion in 2010.

Her family history was unremarkable.

Her vital signs were stable. Physical examination at initial presentation revealed an awake, alert, well-nourished and fully oriented patient in no acute distress. There was no palpable lymph node and no joint deformity was observed. Fever: 39.1 °C, blood pressure: 120/80 mmHg, heart rate: 84/minute rhythmic. On auscultation of lung heard normal breath sounds, and rare rales.

Laboratory results were as follows: complete blood count: Haemoglobin of 9.9 g/dL, total leukocyte count of 7.22×10^{9} /L and platelet 142,000/ dL. Peripheral blood smear: 76.6% lymphocytes, 19.5% monocytes, 3.6% neutrophils, many atypical lymphocytes with azurophilic granules within their cytoplasm and few neutrophils were shown.

The absolute lymphocyte count was 5,553 and absolute neutrophil count was 260. The coagulation profile was normal. Biochemistry panel and the serologic tests for HIV antibody test and viral hepatitis C and B were unremarkable. Lactate dehydrogenase, liver and kidney function tests were normal. Rheumatoid factor, ANA and other autoimmune markers, antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody profiles were all negative.

Thorax computed tomography (CT) imaging demonstrated lymphadenomegaly, which were not exceeding 11 mm in the mediastinum. Abdominal CT showed enlarged spleen and liver.

Positron emitted tomography (PET)/CT scan revealed multiple lymph nodes, which have increased [18F]-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose in the axillary.

Flowcytometry of peripheral blood revealed a population of lymphoid cells that expressed CD2 (%) 92, CD3 (%) 90, CD5 (%) 85, CD8 (%) 78, CD (%) 45 72, TCRab (%) 94. CD4, CD56 and CD 57 were weakly positive.

The patient underwent bone marrow aspiration and biopsy and the flow cytometric study of the bone marrow aspirate. Trephine revealed slightly hypercellular bone marrow, erythroid series was regressive compared to the granulocytic series. Megakaryocytic and granulocytic populations were slightly hyperplasic. There was a noticeable increase in eosinophils. A lymphoid aggregate in the peritrabeculer area and interstitial lymphocytosis were seen. In antigenic investigation, the lymphoid population consisted of mainly CD3 (+) T lymphocytes and showed intrasinusoidal and interstitial spread. CD4 and CD56 were negative. Otherwise, CD8, perphorine, granzyme and TIA-1 were positive.

These findings were suggestive adult T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukaemia.

The patient consulted at the department of haematology and an antileukemic therapy was initiated.

Discussion

Despite the modern diagnostic tools and advanced therapeutic possibilities, FUO remain an unresolved challenge in medicine. FUO may be the symptoms of approximately 200 described causes (2,3). Aetiology may depend on the geography, because in developing countries, the percentage of infections is much higher than in developed countries, where neoplasms and inflammatory diseases are predominant (3). Although there is a common agreement that a detailed patient history and physical examination is crucial in patients presenting with unclear febrile illness. Fever pattern analysis may provide information on the diagnosis (5). The next step for diagnosing FUO is to determine the laboratory tests are that are necessary. Most authors propose multiple blood tests, urinalysis, stool tests, skin tests, cultures of different materials, chest X-ray and ultrasonography of the upper abdomen. If the diagnosis is not determined, another series of tests is proposed: ANA, rheumatoid factor, hepatitis serology, HIV serology, culture for mycobacteria, other bacteria and fungi and echocardiography. When no diagnosis if is found, CT of the neck, chest, abdomen and pelvis; and PET/CT if available, should be done. There is increasing evidence in the literature on the utility of CT and/or PET/CT in investigations for FUO (8). These imaging tests are effective in diagnosis infections, lymphoma and furthermore, the diagnosis confirmation or exclusion in 45-75% of cases. Despite the improvement of diagnostic technologies, especially imaging modalities, still are still undiagnosed FUO. If no diagnosis is achieved, some of investigators proposed a liver and BMB (8,9).

Wang et al. (10) proposed the bone marrow score to guide the need for BMB in FUO for haematological malignancy. The score included leucoerythroblastic changes in peripheral blood smear, thrombocytopenia, anaemia and neutropenia.

Previous studies have shown the presence of cytopenias to be more predictive of BMB findings for haematological malignancies (11,12). Recently, BMB was shown to be useful in several conditions including infection, malignancy and autoimmune diseases, which are all in the differential diagnosis of patients with FUO (8,13).

In the present case, adult T-cell large granular lymphocytic leukaemia was diagnosed with BMB. The diagnosis probably was delayed. She had fever 3 and 4 times each year for 3 years. In the past, she had been administered wide spectrum antibiotics and antipyretics each time it occurred. Therefore, it camouflages the presenting fever and symptom, thereby delaying the diagnosis.

It is important to search for causes of diseases in patients who had deteriorated conditions. Biopsies must be performed in difficult cases, especially when malignant diseases are suspected.

There is no single standard FUO management protocol. Empiric antibiotics are not indicated unless the patients with FUO are neutropenic. Antibiotics may delay the diagnosis of some occult infections. Empiric glucocorticoids are also not indicated unless there is a strong clinical suspicion for rheumatologic disease (5).

The most critical feature of the diagnosis of patients with FUO is to take a careful history, physical examination and to reassess the patient frequently. A wide variety of diagnostic laboratory tests and imaging studies may be useful in FUO. Cytopenic patients should also undergo BMB.

Ethics

Informed Consent: The patient gave her informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.A., E.Ö., M.H.D.; Concept - E.A., D.C.Ç.; Design - E.A.; Data Collection or Processing - D.C.Ç.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.A.; Literature Search - D.C.Ç., S.H.; Writing - E.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

 Petersdorf RG, Beeson FB. Fever of unexplained origin: report on 100 cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 1961; 40: 1-30.

- Brown I, Finnigan NA. Fewer of unknown origin. Stat pearls publishing; 2020. Available from: URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK532265/
- 3. Davit H Bor. Approach to the adult with fever of unknown origin. Available from: URL: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/approach-to-the-adult-with-fever-of-unknown-origin
- 4. Durak DT, Street AC. Fever of unknown origin-reexamined and redefined. Curr Clin Top Infect Dis 1991; 11: 35-51.
- 5. Unger M, Karakinas G, Kerschbaumer A, Winkler S, Aletaha D. Fever of unknown origin revised. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2016; 128: 796-801.
- Schönau V, Vogel K, Englbrecht M, Wacker J, Schmidt D, Manger B, et al. The value of 18F-FDG-PET/CT in identifying the cause of fever of unknown origin (FUO) and inflammation of unknown origin (IUO): data from a prospective study. Ann Rheum Dis 2018; 77: 70-7.
- 7. Cunha BA, Lortholary O, Cunha CB. Fever of unknown origin: a clinical approach. Am J Med 2015; 128: 1138.el-1138.el5.
- Hong FS, Fox LC, Chai KL, Htun K, Clucas D, Morgan S, et al. Role of bone marrow biopsy for fever of unknown origin in the contemporary Australian contex. Intern Med J 2019; 49: 850-4.
- 9. Tan Y, Lui X, Shi X. Clinical features and outcomes of patients with fever of unknown origin: a retrospective study. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19: 198.
- Wang HY, Yang CF, Chiou TJ, Yang SH, Gau JP, Yu YB, et al. A"bone marrow score" for predicting haematological disease in immunocompenent patients with fever of unknown origin. Medicine (Baltimore) 2014; 93: e243.
- Hot A, Jaisson I, Girard C, French M, Durand DV, Rousset H, et al. Yield bone marrow examination in diagnosis the source of fever of unknown origin. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169: 2018-23.
- 12. Ben-Baruch S, Canaani J, Braunstein R, Perr YC, Ben-Ezra J, Polliack A, et al. Predictive parameters for a diagnostic bone marrow biopsy specimen in the work-up of fever of unknown origin. Mayo Clin Proc 2012; 87: 136-42.
- 13. Crispin P, Holmes A. Clinical and pathological feature of bone marrow granulomas: A modern Australian series. Int J Lab Hem 2018; 40: 123-7.

Giant Size Foreign Body Reaction at the First Web Space in the Hand: A Case Report

El Birinci Web Aralığında Yabancı Cisim Reaksiyonuna Bağlı Büyük Kitle: Olgu Sunumu

🖻 Esra Circi, 🕲 Alican Barış

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Mass lesions in the hand are common soft tissue problems. This case study aims to examine the giant size foreign body reaction showing atypical features at the first web space in the right hand and to emphasise different diagnosis.

Keywords: Foreign body reaction, hand, mass

ÖΖ

Kitle oluşturan lezyonlar elin en yaygın yumuşak doku problemlerinden biridir. Bu olguda sağ el birinci web aralığında yabancı cisim reaksiyonuna bağlı oluşan atipik devasa yumuşak doku kitlesi sunulmuştur. Ayrıca el yumuşak doku patolojilerindeki ayırıcı tanısı vurgulanmıştır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Yabancı cisim reaksiyonu, el, kitle

Introduction

Mass lesions in the hand are common soft tissue problems caused by benign skin and soft tissue tumours, foreign body reaction, vascular lesions, granulomatous reactions due to infection, cysts, nerve tumours, premalignant tumours, malignant skin and soft tissue tumours, soft tissue sarcomas, malignant peripheral nerve tumours and metastatic masses (1,2). However, most soft tissue lesions in the hand are benign (3,4). Furthermore, foreign body reactions are reactive traumatic masses. These lesions are the reaction of the organism to the implanted foreign body. The tissue reaction to the foreign body varies depending on the type of foreign body, contact time and anatomic location. Hence, this type of reaction is the isolation method of foreign body (5-7). This case study aims to examine the giant size foreign body reaction showing atypical features in the first web space in the right hand and to emphasise different diagnosis.

Case Report

Informed consent is taken from the patient for the case presentation below. A 58-year-old male patient with a 1-year mass at the first web space in the right hand (Figures 1, 2) that grew in size over time was examined. The physical examination of the mass was painless and palpable. During the evaluation, no signs of infection were found, but the patient's penetrating trauma story was not available. The radiopaque appearance was also not observed during a direct radiographic evaluation. However, ultrasonography examination revealed a 3x2 cm mass surrounded by hypoechoic halo.



Figure 1. Growing palpable mass at the first web space in the right hand



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Alican Barış MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 532 410 18 81 E-mail: dralicanbaris@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6031-6777 Received/Geliş Tarihi: 21.12.2019 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 12.02.2020

Cite this article as/Atif: Circi E, Barış A. Giant Size Foreign Body Reaction at the First Web Space in the Hand: A Case Report. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 26-27.

©Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır. Thus, an excisional biopsy was planned. Under regional anaesthesia, the mass was reached with an incision parallel to the skin's stria. The encapsulated hard nodule was easily excluded from the surrounding soft tissue (Figure 3). Histopathologic examination showed the inert nature of numerous giant cells surrounding the foreign body.

Pain and cosmetic problems were resolved after surgery. Excision of the mass allowed for prompt resolution. The recurrence of the mass during the 3-year postoperative follow-up was not seen during the physical examination.

Discussion

In identifying the aetiology, it is important to demonstrate the presence of a foreign body in a radiological evaluation or penetrating trauma



Figure 2. Physical examination of the mass located at the first web space in the right hand



Figure 3. Macroscopic view of the excised mass

story (8,9). The absence of a penetrating trauma story in this case, and the fact that the dimensions are large enough, did not primarily suggest a preoperative foreign body reaction, but it may not be possible to distinguish giant size foreign body reaction from soft tissue benign tumour preoperatively (10). Excisional biopsy of the lesion allows pathological evaluation and diagnosis to be confirmed and is therapeutic. Simple excision is curative.

Although the 58-year-old male patient has no history of penetrating trauma or prior surgery, we managed to get a giant size foreign body reaction. If the mass detected is independent of the aetiology, the foreign body should be considered for the differential diagnosis. Thus, it can be successfully treated with complete excision of the mass.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Informed consent is taken from the patient for the case presentation below.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.C., A.B.; Concept - E.C.; Design - E.C., A.B.; Data Collection or Processing - E.C.; Analysis or Interpretation - E.C., A.B.; Literature Search - E.C., A.B.; Writing - E.C., A.B.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Johnson J, Kilgore E, Newmeyer W. Tumorous lesions of the hand. J Hand Surg Am 1985; 10: 284-6.
- Agarwal A, Prakash M, Gupta P, Tripathy S, Kakkar N, Srinivasan R, et al. Soft tissue masses of hand: a radio-pathological correlation. Radiol Res Pract 2015; 2015.
- 3. Lee CH, Tandon A. Focal hand lesions: review and radiological approach. Insights imaging. 2014; 5: 301-19.
- Mavrogenis AF, Panagopoulos GN, Angelini A, Lesenský J, Vottis C, Megaloikonomos PD, et al. Tumors of the hand. Eur J Orthop Surg Tr 2017; 27: 747-62.
- Zaidenberg EE, Roitman P, Gallucci GL, Boretto JG, De Carli P. Foreign-Body Reaction and Osteolysis in Dorsal Lunate Dislocation Repair With Bioabsorbable Suture Anchor. Hand (NY) 2016; 11: 368-71.
- Fasano Jr FJ, Hansen RH. Foreign body granuloma and synovitis of the finger: a hazard of ring removal by the sawing technique. J Hand Surg Am 1987; 12: 621-3.
- Robinson PM, Muir LT. Foreign body reaction associated with Artelon: report of three cases. J Hand Surg Am 2011; 36: 116-20.
- 8. Levine WN, Leslie BM. The use of ultrasonography to detect a radiolucent foreign body in the hand: a case report. J Hand Surg Am 1993; 18: 218-20.
- Hung Y, Hung L, Griffith J, Wong C, Ho P. Ultrasound for the detection of vegetative foreign body in hand--a case report. Hand Surg 2004; 9: 83-7.
- Kamaci S, Ergen FB, Leblebicioglu G. Lipoma arborescens in the extensor tendon sheath of the hand secondary to foreign body reaction. J Hand Surg Eur Vol 2015; 40: 751-3.

Poland Syndrome with Unilateral Vocal Fold Paralysis

Unilateral Vokal Kord Paralizisinin Eşlik Ettiği Poland Sendromu

D Muhammet Yıldız¹, D Zeynep Alkan², D Belit Merve Şener², D Özgür Yiğit²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Antalya, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

ÖZ

Poland syndrome (PS) is an unusual congenital syndrome characterised the one-sided non-existence of the pectoralis major muscle, upper extremity and, rib anomaly. It is observed more frequently in men and is occasionally right-sided. Physical examination and radiological imaging are very important in diagnosing the condition. Constructive surgery is primarily the preferred in treatment. We aimed to discuss a case of PS with unilateral vocal fold paralysis for the first time in the literature.

Keywords: Poland syndrome, vocal fold paralysis, laryngeal electromyography

Poland sendromu (PS), unilateral pektoralis majör kasının yokluğu, aynı taraf göğüs duvarında kosta anomalileri ve üst ekstremite deformiteleri ile karakterize nadir görülen konjenital bir sendromdur. Erkeklerde daha sık görülür ve genellikle sağ tarafı tutar. Tanıda fizik muayene bulguları ve radyolojik görüntüleme yöntemleri önemlidir. Tedavisinde konstrüktif cerrahi ön plandadır. Literatürde ilk kez bildirilen vokal kord paralizisinin eşlik ettiği PS olgusunu tartışmayı amaçladık.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Poland sendromu, vokal kord paralizisi, laringeal elektromiyografi

Introduction

Poland syndrome (PS) is an uncommon constitutional abnormality, which is typically described as the unilateral non-existence of the pectoralis major muscle; non-existence of the breast and nipple; lack of the pectoralis minor muscle; anomalies of the anterior ribs, scapula and clavicle; alopecia of the axillary and mammary regions; brachydactyly and syndactyly (1,2). It occurs more frequently in men and on the right side (3). Physical examination and radiological imaging are important in making the diagnosis. In this paper, we present a rare case of PS with unilateral vocal fold paralysis and also discuss the results in the literature.

Case Report

A 58-year-old male patient suffering from dysphonia presented to our clinic. In the meantime, a right-sided chest depression was present. He had been suffering from long-term dysphonia since childhood, and had no history of surgery. On physical examination, we observed the right hemithorax depression, the non-existence of the pectoral muscles (Figure 1) and that the right nipple was upper-situated than the left nipple. Other clinical and laboratory results were within the normal range. There was no family history of laryngeal diseases. A

chest radiograph showed hyperlucency of the right hemithorax, and the heart substituted left hemithorax was observed; upon this knowledge, a thorax computed tomography (CT) was planned. In thorax CT, the non-existence of the pectoralis major muscle, 3rd costal hypoplasia, and decreased attenuation of the right lung were observed (Figure 2). The right lattisimus dorsi and serratus anterior muscles were found to be normal. Cranial and neck CT performed to investigate the aetiology of the vocal fold paralysis were normal and did not yield any pathological result. Abdominal ultrasonography, breath function test, and cardiac electrocardiography-echography were also normal. On stroboscopic examination for the vocal fold paralysis, it was observed that the left-side vocal fold found in the paramedian position while the left arytenoid was displaced towards the inferomedial position (Figure 3). In laryngeal electromyography (EMG), no motor unit potentials were seen in the thyroarytenoid and cricothyroid muscles. The neural damage and denervation potentials were recorded in the laryngeal EMG. Due to the patient's request, reconstructive surgery was not performed; the patient was informed about his vocal fold pathology and recommended followups with breath and voice exercise programmes. Approval (informed consent) was obtained from the patient to present this case report.



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Muhammet Yıldız MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Antalya, Turkey Phone: +90 506 369 88 60 E-mail: dr_yildiz_muhammet@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1771-7345 Cite this article as/Attf: Yıldız M, Alkan Z, Şener BM, Yiğit Ö. Poland Syndrome with Unilateral Vocal Fold Paralysis. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 28-31. Received/Geliş Tarihi: 07.05.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 13.08.2020

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. © Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.



Figure 1. Chest asymmetry with right anterior chest wall depression and an absent pectoralis muscle



Figure 2. Thorax computed tomography of the axial plane shows the absence of the pectoral muscles in the right side



Figure 3. Endoscopic image of the left vocal cord paralysis

Discussion

PS is an unusual congenital abnormality that is defined as a onesided thoracic development disorder (4). The non-existence of the unilateral pectoralis major muscle is the main pathological condition, and underdevelopment or non-existence of the breast and nipples often accompanies this anomaly. In addition, this syndrome may be accompanied by non-existence of the pectoralis minor muscle; deformities of the scapula, clavicle and rib; and alopecia of the axillary and mammary region. Less frequently, the latissimus dorsi, serratus anterior and external oblique muscles may also be involved (5,6). The hypoplasia of the forearm, wrist, or hand, brachydactyly and non-existence of the phalanges or digits can be seen as extremity abnormalities (7). Breast abnormalities may range from breast absence to simple breast hypoplasia (8). Our patient has non-existence of the right pectoralis major-minor muscles and third rib hypoplasia.

The incidence of PS ranges from 1/7,000 to 1/100,000 (9). PS is more common in men. It mostly affects the right side of the body and bilateral involvement is extremely rare (10). The most accepted theory is that in the sixth-seventh week of embryonic life, blood flow decreases on the affected side as a result of the abnormality of the subclavian or vertebral arteries or their branches, and this situation causes partial tissue loss in the affected region (11). Another hypothesis is that various factors like congenital vascular maldevelopment, injuries and exposure to medications in the intrauterine period may lead to hypoxia in the chest wall and adjacent extremity bud of the foetus and finally result in this syndrome (12,13). PS is generally considered to be a sporadic congenital anomaly, but hereditary cases have been reported (14). In our case, there was no hereditary factor and a right side involvement in accordance with the existing literature.

PS may be accompanied by various visceral abnormalities and neoplasms; therefore, it is important to be diagnosed. Diagnosis is made by physical examination and radiological imaging. Chest deformity, organ growth retardation and limb anomalies can be detected during the physical examination. Chest radiography may show that, radiolucency is observed to increase, and displaced to the other side of the heart. The extremity radiography may demonstrate hand anomalies. CT imaging can show muscle and bone anomalies in detail, thus providing useful data for planning a reconstructive surgery (15). In our case, the non-existence of the right pectoralis major muscle, 3rd costal hypoplasia and decreased attenuation of the right lung were observed in thorax CT.

PS is less often accompanied by other abnormalities such as renal anomalies, endocrine anomalies, dextrocardia, Sprengel deformity, Myasthenia gravis, Mobius syndrome and Parry Romberg syndrome (16). Interrelation was found with leukaemia, lymphoma, leiomyosarcoma, breast tumour and neuroblastoma, demanding heightened oncological awareness in these settings (17-19). In our case, we did not detect any symptoms related to those diseases or syndrome.

Vocal fold paralysis is frequently detected in otolaryngology practice. Although the aetiology of paralysis is variable, iatrogenic trauma, malignant tumours and infections have been commonly reported as being the cause (20,21). However, a cause may not be detected in approximately 20% of patients. The most common cause of paralysis has been reported as surgical trauma (22). Additional findings of our patients were not available to explain the aetiology of the vocal fold paralysis.

Videolaryngoscopy is widely used as a diagnostic tool in the management of vocal fold paralysis (23). Laryngeal EMG is often used to predict the diagnosis, pathogenesis and prognosis of vocal fold paralysis (24). In patients whose paralysis has not improved, compensation mechanisms are developed to maintain the natural structure and physiology of the larynx (25). Apart from compensation, after vocal fold paralysis occurs in patients who cannot achieve complete glottal closure, some structural changes also occur. Among these changes are an asymmetric bending larynx, changes in the location of the arytenoid cartilage, changes in the vocal fold tension, granuloma formation and ventricular fold hypertrophy (26,27). In our patient, dysphonia emerged at a very early period. The patient had a left vocal fold paralysis and a shortened and altered inferomedial position of the fold in video laryngoscopic examination. Laryngeal EMG also performed on the patient, and a reduced neuronal activity was determined according to the counterparty. The patient did not want an invasive procedure and was followed-up with breath and voice exercise programmes.

Treatment options should be individualised according to the demographic characteristics of the patient and the severity of the deformity due to the variable clinical picture. Surgery is recommended in patients with advanced thoracic collapse, paradoxical thoracic movement, unprotected mediastinum, non-existence of breast tissue and cosmetic defects (28). In patients with a depressed thorax, the concave structure should be corrected by surgical repair, thereby ending the paradoxical movement of the chest wall. Functional problems in most patients may not bother patients very much, and patients may want to undergo surgery for cosmetic reasons (29). Surgical treatment may not be performed only in patients whose pectoral muscles are affected and with minimal abnormality. Flaps (lattisimus dorsi and rectus abdominus) can be used to repair the structural abnormality in the chest wall and provide functionality, or repairs can be made using only custom-made silicone prosthesis for cosmetic purposes (29). Latissimus dorsi muscle is frequently used in soft tissue repairs and successful results have been obtained (30). In our patient with the diagnosis of PS, no reconstructive surgery was performed because the patient's deformity was minimal and did not cause any functional impairment.

PS is a rare anomaly and other components of the syndrome need to be investigated in patients with thoracic abnormalities. This case report is the first study in the literature of PS accompanied by vocal fold paralysis. In our patient, the pathology associated with unilateral involvement is important in terms of showing that it may be associated with abnormalities of the contralateral side. Therefore, bilateral examinations performed in the investigation of anomalies in patients with PS would be useful.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Approval (informed consent) was obtained from the patient to present this case report.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - M.Y.; Concept - Z.A., B.M.Ş., Ö.Y.; Design - M.Y., B.M.Ş., Ö.Y.; Analysis or Interpretation - M.Y., Z.A., Ö.Y.; Literature Search - B.M.Ş.,; Writing - M.Y., Z.A., Ö.Y.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Yiyit N. Definition of the inclusion criteria of Poland's syndrome. Ann Thorac Surg 2014; 98: 1886.
- 2. Seyfer AE, Fox JP, Hamilton CG. Poland syndrome: evaluation and treatment of the chest wall in 63 patients. Plast Reconstr Surg 2010; 126: 902-11.
- Fokin AA, Robicsek F. Poland's syndrome revisited. Ann Thorac Surg 2002; 74: 2218-25.
- 4. Friedman T, Reed M, Elliot AM. The carpal bones in Poland syndrome. Skeletal Radiol 2009; 38: 585-91.
- Sharma CM, Kumar S, Meghwani MK, Agrawal RP. Poland syndrome. Indian J Hum Genet 2014; 20: 82-4.
- 6. Uludag M, Cece H, Incebiyik S, Demirkol A, Karakas E, Akgun K. Scapular winging in Poland syndrome. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2011; 66: 929-30.
- Catena N, Divizia MT, Calevo MG, Baban A, Torre M, Ravazzolo R, et al. Hand and upper limb anomalies in Poland syndrome: a new proposal of classification. J Pediatr Orthop 2012; 32: 727-31.
- Veir Z, Dujmović A, Duduković M, Mijatović D, Cvjeticanin B, Veir M. Endoscopically assisted latissimus dorsi flap harvesting and breast reconstruction in young female with Poland syndrome. Coll Antropol 2011; 35: 1303-5.
- 9. Hsieh WB, Leung C. Poland syndrome in a neonate: report of one case. Acta Paediatr Taiwan 2005; 46: 239-43.
- 10. Kennedy KR, Wang AL. Poland Syndrome. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 72.
- 11. Dustagheer S, Basheer MH, Collins A, Hill C. Further support for the vascular aetiology of Poland syndrome--a case report. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2009; 62: e360-1.
- Cingel V, Bohac M, Mestanova V, Zabojnikova L, Varga I. Poland syndrome: from embryological basis to plastic surgery. Surg Radiol Anat 2013; 35: 639-46.
- Perez Aznar JM, Urbano J, Garcia Laborda E, Quevedo Moreno P, Ferrer Vergara L. Breast and pectoralis muscle hypoplasia. A mild degree of Poland's syndrome. Acta Radiol 1996; 37: 759-62.
- 14. Sierra Santos L, González Rodríguez MP. Poland syndrome: description of two patients in the same family. An Pediatr (Barc) 2008; 69: 49-51.
- 15. Jeung MY, Gangi A, Gasser B, Vasilescu C, Massard G, Wihlm JM, et al. Imaging of chest wall disorders. Radiographics 1999; 19: 617-37.
- 16. Yiyit N, Işıtmangil T, Öksüz S. Clinical analysis of 113 patients with Poland syndrome. Ann Thorac Surg 2015; 99: 999-1004.
- Mojallal A, La Marca S, Shipkov C, Sinna R, Braye F. Poland syndrome and breast tumor: a case report and review of the literature. Aesthet Surg J 2012; 32: 77-83.
- Caksen H, Patiroglu T, Ozdemir MA, Patiroglu TE, Poyrazoglu MH, Tercan M. Neuroblastoma and Poland syndrome in a 15-year-old boy. Acta Paediatr Jpn 1997; 39: 701-4.
- 19. Esquembre C, Ferris J, Verdeguer A, Prieto F, Badia L, Castel V. Poland syndrome and leukaemia. Eur J Pediatr 1987; 146: 444.

- Bothe C, López M, Quer M, León X, García J, Lop J. Aetiology and treatment of vocal fold paralysis: retrospective study of 108 patients. Acta Otorrinolaringol Esp 2014; 65: 225-30.
- 21. Bilici S, Yildiz M, Yigit O, Misir E. Imaging Modalities in the Etiologic Evaluation of Unilateral Vocal Fold Paralysis. J Voice 2019; 33: 813.e1-813.e5.
- 22. Heuer RJ, Sataloff RT, Emerich K, Rulnick R, Baroody M, Spiegel JR, et al. Unilateral recurrent laryngeal nerve paralysis: the importance of 'preoperative' voice therapy. J Voice 1997; 11: 88-94.
- Fleischer S, Schade G, Hess MM. Office-based laryngoscopic observations of recurrent laryngeal nerve paresis and paralysis. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2005; 114: 488-93.
- 24. Guha K, Sabarigirish K, Singh SK, Yadav A. Role of Laryngeal Electromyography in Predicting Recovery After Vocal Fold Paralysis. Indian J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014; 66: 394-7.
- Bielamowicz S, Stager SV. Diagnosis of unilateral recurrent laryngeal nerve paralysis: laryngeal electromyography, subjective rating scales, acoustic and aerodynamic measures. Laryngoscope 2006; 116: 359-64.

- Pinho SM, Pontes PA, Gadelha ME, Biasi N. Vestibular vocal fold behavior during phonation in unilateral vocal fold paralysis. J Voice 1999; 13: 36-42.
- 27. Morrison MD, Rammage LA. Muscle misuse voice disorders: description and classification. Acta Otolaryngol 1993; 113: 428-34.
- Romanini MV, Torre M, Santi P, Dova L, Valle M, Martinoli C, et al. Proposal of the TBN Classification of Thoracic Anomalies and Treatment Algorithm for Poland Syndrome. Plast Reconstr Surg 2016; 138: 50-8.
- 29. Romanini MV, Calevo MG, Puliti A, Vaccari C, Valle M, Senes F, et al. Poland syndrome: A proposed classification system and perspectives on diagnosis and treatment. Semin Pediatr Surg 2018; 27: 189-99.
- Liu C, Luan J, Ouyang Y, Zhuang Y, Xu B, Chen L, et al. Breast Reconstruction in Poland Syndrome Patients with Latissimus Dorsi Myo Flap and Implant: An Efficient Endoscopic Approach Using Single Transverse Axillary Incision. Aesthetic Plast Surg 2019; 43: 1186-94.

Primary Spinal Epidural Lymphoma: A Case Report

Primer Spinal Epidural Lenfoma: Olgu Sunumu

● Nuriye Güzin Özdemir¹, ● Özgür Baran¹, ● Ömer Faruk Sahin¹, ● Feray Akbas², ● Hilal Tan Köker³, Gülben Erdem Hug⁴

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, Istanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Internal Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Hematology, Istanbul, Turkey ⁴University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pathology, Istanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Primary spinal epidural lymphomas are the disorders that are very rarely seen. Spinal cord compression requires surgical decompression after which chemotherapy is initiated. A 46-yearold man presented with back and leg pain with progressive weakness of the lower extremities. Magnetic resonance imaging showed an extradural mass lesion compressing the cord anterolaterally and posteriorly at T-11. Surgical decompression with tumoural resection was performed. The pathological examination was reported as diffuse large B-cell lymphoma with germinal centre phenotype. Chemotherapy was initiated by the haematology clinic, and the patient was referred to physical therapy unit for his minimal paraparesis. After the operation, no pathologic involvement was observed on positron emission tomography. Patients presenting with back and leg pain should be considered for primary spinal epidural lymphoma, and the treatment should be planned accordingly since patients have good prognosis with early treatment.

Keywords: Primary spinal epidural lymphoma, thoracic spine, spinal cord compression, surgery, chemotherapy

ÖΖ

Primer spinal epidural lenfomalar çok nadir görülen lezyonlardır. Omurilik basısı olması halinde cerrahi dekompresyon ve sonrasında kemoterapi başlanması gereklidir. Kırk altı yaşında erkek hasta sırt ve bacak ağrısı, bacaklarda giderek artan güç kaybı ve yürüme güçlüğü yakınmalarıyla başvurdu. Manyetik rezonans görüntülemede T-11 seviyesinde korda anterolateral ve posterior olarak basan ekstradural kitle lezyonu izlendi. Tümöral rezeksiyonla birlikte cerrahi dekompresyon yapıldı. Patoloji sonucu germinal merkez fenotipli B-hücreli lenfoma infiltrasyonu olarak geldi. Hematoloji kliniği tarafından kemoterapi başlandı. Hasta minimal parapareziyle fizik tedaviye sevk edildi. Ameliyat sonrası pozitron emisyon tomografisinde patolojik tutulum gözlenmedi. Sırt ve bacak ağrısıyla birlikte bacaklarda güç kaybı ve yürüme güçlüğü olan hastalarda primer spinal epidural lenfoma tanısı göz önünde bulundurulmalı, hastaların tedaviye iyi yanıt vermesi nedeniyle erken teşhis ile tedavi iyi planlanmalıdır.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Primer spinal epidural lenfoma, thoracic vertebra, spinal kord basisi, cerrahi, kemoterapi

Introduction

Primary spinal epidural lymphomas are rarely seen. They are reported as 0.1%-6.5% of the lymphoma cases and 9% of spinal epidural tumours (1). Primary spinal epidural lymphomas are defined as type of lymphomas with no other disease site at the time of diagnosis (2). It is thought to arise from paraspinal lymphoid tissue with secondary involvement of the spinal cord (3). Thoracic spine is mostly involved with male predominance. Clinical features may include backpain, lower limb weakness, sensory deficit and urinary or anal sphincter function disturbance (4,5).

Here, we present the case of a 46-year-old man with lower limb weakness because of a spinal extradural cord lesion which was diagnosed as germinal centre type of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

Case Report

A 46-year-old man was admitted to neurosurgery outpatient clinic with intense thoracic pain and difficulty in walking due to loss of strength in both legs that started a month ago. His medical history and family history were both unremarkable, except the proton pump inhibitor he was taking for gastritis.



Address for Correspondence/Yazışma Adresi: Nuriye Güzin Özdemir MD, University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, Istanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 545 322 12 62 E-mail: guzozdemir@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-2702-4526

Received/Geliş Tarihi: 18.09.2020 Accepted/Kabul Tarihi: 10.10.2020

Cite this article as/Atuf: Özdemir NG, Baran Ö, Sahin ÖF, Akbas F, Tan Köker H, Erdem Hug G. Primary Spinal Epidural Lymphoma: A Case Report. İstanbul Med J 2020; 21(Suppl 1): 32-38.

© Copyright 2020 by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital/İstanbul Medical Journal published by Galenos Publishing House. ©Telif Hakkı 2020 Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi İstanbul Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi/İstanbul Tıp Dergisi, Galenos Yayınevi tarafından basılmıştır.

His neurologic examination demonstrated paraparesis of 4/5. He had a sensory level of hypoesthesia at T-10. No abnormal reflex was detected and urinary and anal sphincter tonus was normal. The other systemic findings and laboratory results were found to be normal.

A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was ordered as the patient was thought to have a thoracic or thoracolumbar spinal involvement because of primary spinal tumour or metastasis. MRI showed an intraspinal extradural mass lesion iso-hypointense on T1-weighted imaging (T1WI) and iso-hyperintense on T2WI at T-11 level. The lesion was homogeneously enhanced and compressed medulla especially on the anterior aspect and extended posterolaterally (Figure 1 A-D) (Figure 1 A, B: Pre-operative MRI, Figure 1 C, D: Postoperative MRI).

Weakness of lower limbs progressed in a 2 weeks' period during his diagnostic investigation, and he could not walk without assistance.

The patient was hospitalised in our neurosurgery clinic, and surgery was planned to take a biopsy both for the diagnosis and the urgent need for decompression spinal surgery. He was operated, and medullary decompression was accomplished with T-11 laminectomy and tumoural resection on the right side, where the tumoural tissue was abundant, paying special attention not to pull the spinal cord. A grey-pink, firm lesion with the bone involvement was extracted and sent for pathological examination, which was reported as a diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Figures 2-4). Immunochemistry report showed CD20 (+), CD23 (+), CD45 (+), BCL-2 (-), BCL-6 (+), CD3 (-), CD5 (-), CD10 focal (+), CD56 (-), MUM-1 (-), C-MYC (-) of neoplastic cells. Positivity of Ki-67 in nearly all large



Figure 1. A, B: Sagittal T1-weighted (T1W) contrast magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) shows epidural mass compressing the spinal cord at T-11 level. Axial T1W contrast MRI shows lesion extending from anterolateral region posteriorly **C, D:** Postoperative sagittal and axial T1W contrast MRI showing the spinal cord decompression after tumour resection and chemotherapy

tumour cells showed high proliferation index. The diagnosis was B-cell lymphoma infiltration with germinal centre phenotype.

The patient was investigated further for other possible sites of lymphoma. No other primary site of lymphoma was revealed from the reports of whole body bone scintigraphy scan, single photon emission computed tomography (CT) and the positron emission tomography (PET), and the final diagnosis was a primary spine epidural lymphoma.

The patient quickly mobilised with little pain and was need of assistance during the early postoperative period. The patient was consulted with haematology clinic, and bone marrow biopsy was performed. The pathological result showed mild small B-cell proliferation and rare CD20 (+) large B-cells, normocellular bone marrow suboptimal for evaluation. Chemotherapy including rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and prednisolone (R-CHOP protocol) was initiated with the



Figure 2. On the right side, bone trabeculae and at the adjacent area infiltration of the atypical lymphoid cells is observed. The infiltrative cells are irregularly bordered or lobulated lymphoid cells with clear cytoplasm and big nuclei. Lymphocytes are also observed at the distant areas of trabeculae (HEx200)



Figure 3. The area with large atypical lymphoid cells and diffuse infiltration (HEx200)



Figure 4. Lymphoid infiltration shows strong and diffuse staining with CD20 immunohistochemically (DABx200)

definitive diagnosis of B-cell lymphoma. Chemotherapy was completed to six cycles. The patient was administered high-dose methotrexate for the purpose of central nervous system (CNS) prophylaxis. PET-CT was observed to be fully responsive at the end of the treatment. After chemotherapy, he started to walk without assistance and MRI showed clearance of the tumoural tissue in the epidural region. After 2 years of follow-up period, presently, he is mobile, and has only complaint of minimal gonarthralgia, which relieves with physiotherapy.

The voluntary informed consent form was obtained from the patient.

Discussion

Extranodal non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) comprises 24%-48% of all NHLs. Spinal extradural lymphomas account for 9% of all spinal epidural tumours and 0.9% of all extranodal NHLs (5). NHL of spinal epidural region is rarely seen and reported as 9% of all spinal epidural tumours (5-7). Subdural or intramedullary involvement has also been reported to be rare (8).

It is found to be more common in male than female patients with a ratio of 7:2. Age of presentation is in the fourth to seventh decade. Most common involvement is in the mid-thoracic spine (69%), followed by lumbar (27%) and cervical spine (4%) (2,5,9-11). Differential diagnosis includes metastasis, primary bone tumours, multiple myeloma and infections (4).

Primary spinal epidural NHL diagnosis is made when all other system pathologies are excluded (3). We also excluded all other etiological possibilities in our case, and the diagnosis was made after the operation and biopsy evaluation.

The pathogenesis of primary spinal epidural lymphoma was explained by the role of chronic inflammatory process, chronic infection, autoimmune disease and the meningoepithelial component (5,10). The theories about the origin are controversial. The lymphoma cells are thought to originate from lymphatic tissue along the venous plexus in the epidural space or the paravertebral lymphoid rests (2,11). Antigenic stimulation with a transformation cascade was theorised as epidural tissue contains lymphoid cells. Other suggestions include the origination of these epidural tumours from paraspinal, vertebral and retroperitoneal tissues after entering through the intervertebral foramina (9,12).

Histopathological examination of primary spinal epidural lymphoma shows atypical lymphoid cell proliferation. B-cell lymphoma is the most common type. Immunohistochemistry demonstrates tumour cell positivity for leukocyte common antigen and CD20 (13).

Spinal epidural lymphomas are generally diagnosed as B-cell lymphomas as in our case. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is the most common type (2), and it represents 30% of all NHLs. Spinal epidural lymphoma of this type is classified as germinal centre B-cell type or non-germinal centre B-cell type. First one is CD10 (+) or CD10 (-)/BCL-6 (+)/MUM-1 (-), and the second one is CD10 (-)/BCL-6 (-) or CD10 (-)/BCL-6 (+)/MUM-1 (-). Germinal centre B-cell type is more common in the spine compared to CNS (5,14).

Presentation with a spinal cord compression is rarely seen among NHL patients, and it is reported as 5%. Primary spinal lymphoma patients first complain about back or leg pain and difficulty in walking. Neurologic deficits as paraparesis, ataxic gait, sensory disturbance with possible urinary and bowel involvement occur later. Progression to lower limb weakness due to cord compression may be observed in a 2-week to 2-month period (2,5,15).

MRI is a useful diagnostic tool to detect the cord compression and for surgical planning. However, first, systemic primary lymphoma should be excluded. Lesion is usually hypo-isointense on T1WI and iso-hyperintense on T2WI, however, T2WI may show low signal due to the variable density of tumour cells (2,4). MRI appearance of the lesion was isointense on T1-weighted images and iso-hyperintense on T2WI with homogeneous enhancement in our case in accordance with the literature.

As an adjuvant technique, PET shows the tumour as an area with intense hyper-metabolic activity (16,17).

Since NHL is very sensitive to radiotherapy and chemotherapy, surgery is considered in patients with one site involvement, in order to confirm the diagnosis and decide for the treatment options accordingly. Surgical decompression and biopsy provide the highest possible volume reduction. Thus, it is considered as the best modality in patients with spinal cord compression. Rapid progression of motor weakness, especially with loss of urinary anal sphincter control requires emergency decompression. Patients with spinal instability may require spinal stabilisation (5,10). This approach also allows for histopathological diagnosis in a patient with no other known diagnosis related to the epidural lesion and expedites the planning of the chemotherapy and radiotherapy if needed.

Adjuvant therapy increases the disease-free survival period (18,19). Intrathecal chemotherapy may be considered in individualised treatment (2). Chemotherapy, including cyclophosphamide, vincristine and prednisone, is recommended after the surgical decompression and pathological diagnosis. Radiotherapy at doses of 25 Gy may be given as an adjuvant treatment. Primary spinal epidural lymphoma should be considered in patients with spinal cord compression of extradural soft tissue lesion with or without bone involvement. The prognosis and functional recovery are relatively better for patients with spinal cord compression because of NHL, and it is important to make a timely diagnosis before paraplegia occurs.

Ethics

Informed Consent: The voluntary informed consent form was obtained from the patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - N.G.Ö., Ö.B., Ö.F.Ş., F.A., H.T.K.; Concept - N.G.Ö.; Design - N.G.Ö., F.A.; Data Collection or Processing - N.G.Ö., Ö.B., Ö.F.Ş., G.E.H.; Analysis or Interpretation -N.G.Ö., F.A.; Literature Search - N.G.Ö., Ö.B., Ö.F.Ş.; Writing - N.G.Ö., F.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Cugati G, Singh M, Pande A, Ramamurthi R, Balasubramanyam M, Sethi SK, et al. Primary spinal epidural lymphomas. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine 2011; 2: 3-11.
- Shu Y, Wang A, Yi L, Xu X, Yang W. Primary spinal epidural diffuselarge B-cell lymphoma with paraplegia as the first manifestation: a case report. Onco Targets Ther 2019; 12: 6497-501.
- Moussaly E, Nazha B, Zaarour M, Atallah JP. Primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the spine: A case report and literature review. World J Oncol 2015; 6: 459-63.
- Zheng JS, Wang M, Wan S, Zhou YQ, Yan M, Chen QF, et al. Isolated primary non-Hodgkin'slymphoma of the thoracic spine: a case report with a review of the literature. J Int Med Res 2010; 38: 1553-60.
- Córdoba-Mosqueda ME, Guerra-Mora JR, Sánchez-Silva MC, Vicuña-González RM, Torre AI. Primary spinal epidural lymphoma as a cause of spontaneous spinal anterior syndrome: A case report and literature review. J Neurol Surg Rep 2017; 78: e1-4.
- Cho HJ, Lee JB, Hur JW, Jin SW, Cho TH, Park JY. A rare case of malignant lymphoma occurred at spinal epidural space: A case report. Korean J Spine 2015; 12: 177-80.

- 7. Di Marco A, Campostrini F, Garusi GF. Non-Hodgkin lymphomas presenting with spinal epidural involvement. Acta Oncol 1989; 28: 485-8.
- Vanneuville B, Janssens A, Lemmerling M, de Vlam K, Mielants H, Veys EM. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma presenting with spinal involvement. Ann Rheum Dis 2000; 59: 12-4.
- Mally R, Sharma M, Khan S, Velho V. Primary lumbo-sacral spinal epidural non Hodgkin's Lymphoma: A case report and review of literature. Asian Spine J 2011; 5: 192-5.
- Tsukada T, Ohno T, Tsuji K, Kita K, Kobayashi T, Deguchi K, et al. Primary epidural non-Hodgkin'slymphoma in clinical stage IEA presenting with paraplegia and showing complete recovery after combination therapy. Intern Med 1992; 31: 513-5.
- 11. Jagtap SA, Patil AS, Kesavdas C, Radhakrishnan N, Soni H, Satish KS. Primary spinal epidural diffuse large B-celllymphoma. Neurol India 2013; 61: 532-4.
- 12. Kim SK, Lee SH, Kim ES, Eoh W. DiffuseLarge B-Cell lymphoma mimicking schwannoma of lumbar spine. Korean J Spine 2016; 13: 71-3.
- Xiong L, Liao LM, Ding JW, Zhang ZL, Liu AW, Huang L. Clinicopathologic characteristics and prognostic factors for primary spinal epidural lymphoma: report on 36 Chinese patients and review of the literature. BMC Cancer 2017; 17.
- Arslan H, Yavuz A, Aycan A. Primary Spinal Lymphoma Masquerading as Meningioma: preoperative and postoperative magnetic resonance imaging findings. World Neurosurg 2018; 118: 86-7.
- 15. Luo CC. Spinal cord compression secondary to metastatic non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a case report. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005; 86: 332-4.
- Popescu M, Popov V, Popescu G, Dobrea C, Sandu A, Grigorean VT, et al. Spinal involvement with spinal cord compression syndrome in hematological diseases. Rom J Morphol Embryol 2012; 53: 1069-72.
- Tang Y, Yang X, Xiao J, Liu K, Yan W, Song D, et al. Clinical outcomes of treatment for spinal cord compression due to primary non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Spine J 2013; 13: 641-50.
- Monnard V, Sun A, Epelbaum R, Poortmans P, Miller RC, Verschueren T, et al. Primary spinal epidural lymphoma: patients' profile, outcome, and prognostic factors: a multicenter Rare Cancer Network study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006; 65: 817-23.
- 19. Mkandawire N. Primary spinal cord epidural non-Hodgkin's lymphoma as cause of paraplegia: report of 2 cases. Malawi Med J 2003; 15: 72-5.